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Company Profile

The principal activities of IDE Group Holdings pkc are the provision of network, hosting and managed services lo pﬁblic and privale

The country of incorporation is Scotland; the Company’s registered number is SC368538 and the Company is limited by shares.
The main country of operatidn is the Uniled Kingdom.

Further information on the Company can be found at www.ideoroyp.com.

Summary

Revenve of £28.2 mitiion (2018: £41.1 million).
Gross profit margins increased to 22.8% (2018 16.1%). Gross profit margins before the impact of IFRS 16 are 22.1%.

Adjusted EBITDA™ profit £1.1 million {2018 loss of £3.9 million). The adjusted EBITDA of £1.1 million has benefited by
£0.9 million due to the adoption of IFRS 16 with costs now taken in depreciation and finance costs.

Additional lunding raised of £11.5 million in the form of six-year secured loan notes from existing shareholders.
No external debl other than with key shareholders.

Stable leadership and consistent senior management leam in place.

Partnership channe! delivering revenues from public sector.

Stronq partnarship and direct customer pipefine of opportunities.

* Adiuslad EBITDA is definad as earnings before interest, tax, deprecistion, amortisalion, impairment charges, exceptional items, Joss on
disposal of fixed sssets and share-based payments
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Chairman's Statement

2019 — & yéar &f strategic realignment

This year has been pivotal for the Group, and whilst we saw.a significant drop in revenues, we saw an increase in adjusied
EBITDA,; This confirms thal the cost reduciions and tatiorialisatior of loss-making businéss fias moved thé Group lo a belter
frading position from which to now-grow. :

Ahtef a pediod oF doAclidation and reflection we have embarked on a course for fong term growth that Wl capitalise on 00T
strengths and develop propositions that mest client needs. We have a strong story to lel about how outsourced managed and
lifecycle’ services cah bring value ko orgahisations, We are als6 $ééing increasing succeSs when introducing cliénts to the
breadth of our services including datacentre, cloud and corineglivity.

"Thé Board decided that it is time for a more clearly arficulated services offer and simpiified business struclure.

Our challenges in 2019 ‘

We had some maijor challehges to address'during the year:

Securing renewals of key customers
Consolidating our data centre estate
Developing a new sirategy for Connect

. Rebuilding our pariner and channel relationships:
Exploling new sales opportunities

What has gone weli?

Agzinst a backdrop of economic and political uncerlainty, we have.secured some. key cuslomer renewals and won new clients
parlicularly in managed servicés.

We retained our profitable key direct customers lo whom we provide user support desk, managed services, on-site and field
érigineering.

On-going projetts delivered by our kfecycle fulfiment centre were particularly sirong and we have seen sitong and consistent
improvements in thal aréa, with our major customer for that service renewing mid-year. )

We began a comprehensive review of the Connect bu3inéss during the year in order fo dévelop a new strategy for this division
aftef recent declines in revenue and complexilies in its operations, [ am pleased fo provide an update that a major consolidation
of the nefwork and datacentres in which we operale is undetway. This Is 8 significait projec! which will taka §me to conclude, but
we are confident that it will provide the foundations for profitable growth of our datacentre, cloud and connectivity business.

Our relationship with third party syslem infegrators has both been refreshed and reinvigorated, and we have seen an increase in
opportunities both in service provision and project work through this channel particutarly into the publit sealor; we are delivering
IT services ilo both a number of Ceniral Government departments and Bive Light clients. We have ended the year with several
long-term partnerships which are previding us with new sales opportunities.

What has changed?

During 2018 a key focus was on reducing the. Group's overheads, headcount, aAd infrastruciure foofprint in order to provide a
more suslainable cosl base, and stabilising the business following a period of upheaval and uncertainty.

We did, unforfuiiately, see some customer losses during the year; lifacycle services are bolstered by project work which was
lowet in 2019 than the prior year, and subsequent projects were delayad into 2020 In our Connect business the customer churr

_ was al an unacceptable level with sonte larger account losses in cloud services; this in part resulted in the programme lo -
consolidate the datacentre estate and review our pricing sirategy for Connect services.

In 2019, whilst managmg cosis has remained a key driver; we have focussed altentiont onto cusfomers. We gave focus to
individual customer and project profitabiiity, continued lo provide excellent senvice to existing customers as well as clearly
articulating our value propositions to win new busihess.
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¥ear ended 31 Decernber 2019
Chairman's. Statement (corftiniied) e im e e

Sacuting and developing ouf partriiership channiels has proven to bé successful with severdl new cusslormer wins in the pubilic
sactor; and we have seen a posilive affimalion iri dirdol businéss wilh kéy ac6ount néngwals.

COVID-1¢°

The ungrecedentsd and fapidiy changing circumstances Surounding the COVID-19 cutbreak provitle an Uficerlih économic
landscape and Increased risk avérsin In the fhancial markets. Whilst it is dificult to-poadiot accurately the potantial long-term
consequances, we remain vigilant and, in comemon with all businesses, are ciasély Mondorng the situation: The Weilbaing of staff
and the customers with whiom they intévact is our overiding priofly. We have instituted meastifes to ensure that obr people ¢an
work safely and, in most casgs, remotely, énsuring the cantiniity of the bisihess. We have-fjotously stress tested our financial
foreeasty for-& range of potentiat outcomes associated with COVID+19 and we ate confident that the Group i well pasitioned
withstand dny fegativé impacl. To dale there has been no matarial effect on the business.

Results

Revenue bll by 3% across the Group {0 £28.2 mitiion for the full year (2018: £41.1 million), but significantly we have improved
gross’profit marging to m which Beforé the impact-of IFRS 16 are 22% (2018 16%), and the fesulling gross profil has-
remained flaf year-or-year at £6.4 milion (2018: £6.6 millidn):

The significant work andertaken o reduce the:Group costy underpins the improvement i gross: ma'{ﬁns. and aliedto a
reduction-in oveérhaads {excluding non-undertying costs, impairment, amortisation and depraciation} by some. 50% 10 £5.3 milkicn
(2018: £10 mifion) has resulted 4 the adfusted EBITDA moving from loss to profit of £4.1 dhillion (2018: los¢ of £3.9 million).

Year ended 31 “Yes entied 31
Decomber 2013 December 2018

£000 £000
Adjusted EBITDA ' : 1,143 (3.636)
Exceptional items. (568) (2:368)
Depreciation 3.241) (2.848)
Amortisation (3.289 (3290
Impainment charge. on goodwil {3,000 (17,528)
Loss on.disposal of fixed assels s (447)
Charges for share-based paymens 86) 20
Operating oss ) ' @06 (30.159)
Finance eosts sy . (389
Income lax . 241 1,088
Loss for the year from conbinuing opesafions A7) 25.459)

The nét fos§ foirthe yedr ffgim continuing dperations I§ £8.5 million (2018: loss £29.5 million), affer a £3 million impairment chiarge:
(2018: £17.8-million against goodwil and acquired intangibie assels)

The Group continues to improve its cash generation and has maintained strong working capilal management, Ih’s along wnth the
additionaf loan notes resulted in the Group paying off its third-party bank debt and finance lease commitments.
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Chairman's Statement (confinved)
Profitability of divisions
Manage
Manage encompasses our sennce linés broadly covering field and sife enginearing, projects and ifecycie, network monitoring
and service desk suppoft.

2019 saw revenues fall To £14.7 miliion (2018: £27 2 million), this Was mostly dowh to novation of sonis £3.4 million of cofilratts
ové? 1o Coninct, £4.9 million of lower project and lifecycle services, and a furthef £3.7 million feducon & engineering and
managed services; owever, we hiave seen an improvement in gross profit margins to 31% (2018 21%) and a teduction in
overheads by ovet 50%. The sum of ihese moved adjusled EBITDA from a loss in the prior year to a profitin 2018.0f £1.1 illion
(2018: loss of £3.1 milfion). The adjusted EBITDA of £1.1 million has benefited by £0.6 million due to the adopllon of IFRS 16
with costs now taken in degreciation and firance cosls. - -

This encouraging improvement dnderpins thatthis division is approachmg tha righ-size, further consolidation of field engmeenng
is uriderway, and that profitable growth calv be, achieved in 2020.

Connect ' ‘
Connecl business servicas are broadly networking and connectfity, cloud and hosling, and voicefelephony.

Revenues in Connecl were fiat year-on-year at £14.6 million (2018: £14.6 million); whilst we were disappointed 1o lose some of
our larget cloud cuslomess but benefited from contracts novated from Manage, and the nel tesoit was an improverent ifi 9385
marging to 13% {2018. 5%). Theré has been an increase in overheads to £4.5 million (2018: £3.3 million), ificluding a £0.3 milion
benefit of adopting IFRS 16 in 2019. An impairment charge against inlangible assets of £3.0 million (2018: £6.9 mllion) was
incurred following an annual impairmént review which indicates that Connect is still underperforming. The resliting adjusted
EBITDA kmproved to £0.7 million (2018: loss £0.4 million). The adjusted EBITDA of £0.7 million.has behefited by £0.3 milfion due
to the adoption of IFRS 16 with costs now taken in depreciation and finance cos!s.

Our objectives in 2020 are to further reduce costs through the datacentre and network consolidation andlleveragelhese,commarcial
improvements into more competitive pricing to win new and extend exisiing business opportunities.

Cenffal

. There are £0.9 million of overhead costs attribulabile to group overtiaads (mainly refating to pic board and listing cosls, asscciated
legal and professional fees, and share based payiment charges), of which £0.7 million reduce Group adjusted EBITDA

Paople

The management team made consistent progress in simplifying the structure of the business and aligning services better 1o
support our clients.

The Group executed on further headcount reductions during the year ending the period with 262 FTE (2018: 303 FTE).

The board would like lo recognise dnd thank its employges who havé worked hard to daliver excellent client service: and retain
exsling key clients.

What will wé keap doing?

We are improving our cusiomer and pariner relationships and thal has shown in our longer-term contracts and customer
renewals in 2019, Our focus for 2020 is on developing those relationships and the skills and processes needed to manage
accounts in a consistent and productive way by placing account managementi and service delivery at the heart of the business.

We will continue lo generale revenue and casti but will also ensure that our business quality improves in terms of client fit,
margin and sustainability.
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Chairman’s Statement (cont.-’nuéd)

What will we do better?
We have several priorities for the future, highlighted ones being;

improvements to our Govemnance in line with the Quoted Companies Alliance Corporate Governance Code.
Complele our network and datacentire consclidation.
. Land and expand contracts through our parinesship channel.
Win more direct customers >£1m per annum contract value.
Develop and deliver cur datacentre, cloud and connectivity offering,
Remave business and operational complexities thereby reducing overheads.

i

‘ .We are currently assessing {he technology and market landscape and will evaiuale our options in 2020. However, at our heart,
| we are 8 business that depends on our own talented people defivering best-of-class lechnology solutions. We need to build &
| sirong sales force to support our group of knowledgeable experts.
i

Our strategy of a more inlegrated offesing across service ines requires some investment in training and skills to ensure that we
can deliver forour chients and our invesiors.
Strategy

Having been greatly encouraged by the opportunities idenlified in the partnership channel & lifecycle businesses, and strong
‘ direct customers the Board has outlined a strategy-to provide better alignment between our operating businessas, customer
| needs and driving competitive advantage as we widen the client base to which we offer the fuk portfolio of our services.

Aaditionafly, changes Io our internal oparaling mode! will assure consisient quality in our relalionship and account fnanagemenl
whilst maintaining our sirength in financial management. .

Qur aim is o drive Rurther operating margin improvement and deliver consistent growth in eamings in the medium and long-term.
This wik be supporied by forthcoming developments in markeling and lead generation activities we plan to implement in 2020.
Financing and dividend

During the year, the Company issued £11.5 mikon of secured loan notes the proceeds of which were used o repay the Group's
debt faciiities with National Westminster Bank, meet its finance lease obligations, and provide additional working capital,

“Given the continued losses ihe Board is not proposing lo dectare & dividend al this time but will keep this policy under review.
Current trading and outlook

Trading in the current financial year remains broadly in line with management expectations, although the mix has changed due to
the cument COVID-19 crisis. We have won and implemented additional projects in the Managed division supporting mobile
working across a number of our clients, offset by the expected pipeline of projects being deferred inlo the second half. The Board
is confident in its stralegy and continues to enhance aperational efficiency in our core services and strengthen the senior
management team in order to deliver an improved trajectory through 2020 and beyond.

b

Andy Parker
Non-Executive Chairman
13 July 2020
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Financial Review .

The Group raported total revenues for the year to 31 December 2019 of £28.2 million, down from £41.1 miltion in 2018 and gross
profit of £6.4 million (2018: £6.6 milion). The gross profit of £6.4 million has benefited by £0.2 million due-To the adoplion of IFRS
16 with costs.now taken in depreciation and.finance costs. -

The Groug uses Adjusted EBITDA which fs a non-GAAP measure of performanoe as it believes this more.accurately reflects the
underlying performance of the. besiness. This. is ane. of the key operational performance measures monilored by the Board.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, 1ax, depreciation, amortisation, impairment charges, exceptional items,
loss on disposat of fixed assets.and share-based payments.

Thie adjusted EBITDA for the year to 31 December 2019 was a profit of £1.1 million (2018: loss.£3.9 million). The adjusted EBITDA
of £1.1 million has benefited by £0.9 million due fo the adoption of IFRS 16. '

A détailed review of the business is sef outin the Chaifman’s Slatement and this Financial Review. ncluded in these reviews are
comments on the key performance indicators that are used by the Board on a monthly basis lo monitor and assess the performance
of the business. These indicalors include the level of revenue, gross profit and Adjusted EBITDA together with net debt

Discontinued operations
In 2018, the Company sokf the entire issued share capital of 365 TTMS Limited (*365 ITMS®) and ils subsidiaries lo PTCA Newco
Limited ("PTCA"), a newly incorporaled company, on a cash free, debt free basis. with a normalised leved of working capital (the

*Sale”). The consideration for the Sale. was £2.8 million, payable In cash. The proceeds of the Sale were used to reduce the
Group's net debt.

In addition, as part of the Sale, certain assets relating to PACT, the Group's business unit focused en cyber securily, including
contracls. and staff, were transferred to 365 ITMS for cash consideration of £0.2 milion which was paid (o the Group by 365 ITMS
upon completion of the Sale. :

The results for 2018 showed a Joss on discontinued operations of £3.2m and a profil on disposal of subsidiary of £0.7 million.
Further losses of £0.2 million wereridentified in the current year on contracts novaled as part of the disposal.

Mariage
There was a decrsase in revenues lo £14.7 million (2018; £26.7 million), which is- altributable to £3.4 millioﬁ value of contracls

novatéd to Connect, £4.9 million of lower project and lifecycle services, and a further £3.7 milion reduction in engineering and
managed services sufferad from the loss of customer contracts or reduction in scope of services.

For the year we have seen an improvement in gross profil margins to 31%, which beifore the benefil of IFRS 16 is 28% (2018
21%) as a result of the services mix and operational efficiencles, and a reduction in overheads by over 50% fo £7.1 million {2018
£15.5 million), which is the result of reduced headcount, costs moving to Connect alongside novated contracts, and stringent cost
saving initiatives.

Adjusted EBITDA attribulable o Manage has moved from a loss in the prior year to a profit in 2019 of £1.1 million (2018: logs of
£3.1 million), The adiusted ERITDA of £1.1 miltion has benefited by £0.6 million due fo the adoption of IFRS 16:

Connect

Revenues in Connect are fiat year-on-year at £14.6 million {2018: £14.6 million). This net neutral position reflects additional
revenues from Manage contracts novated of £3.4 million against cuslomer logses of a similar value.

However, there was an improvement in gross rhargins to-13% (2018: 5%), owing to savings in infrastructure costs, and changes
in the customer-and services mix.

There has been an increase in overheads to £4.5 miliion (2018: £3.3 million}, and an impairment charge against intangible assets
of £3.0 miflion (2018; £6.9 million} was incurred following an annual impairment review. The overheads of £4.5 milion have
benefited by £0.3 million due to the adoption of IFRS 16.

Adjusted EBITDA atiributable to Connect has improved to £0.7 gnillion {2018: loss £0.4 million). The adjusted EBITDA of £0.7
million has benefited by £0.3 million due to the adoption of IFRS 16.
' 7
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Financial Review (continued)

Excsptional items

Non-anderlying items, reldting 10 rastructuring and reorganigation, and costs attribulable to g premises bréak-in, amount to £0.6
milion in the year {2018: £2.4 million).

_ Finance tosts

After incufting net finance costs of £1.8 millon relating lo interest and arrangement fees for loan notes, leases and banic debt
(2018; £0.4 million), melossbeforetaxlt£109nﬁilllon(2013 loss of £30.5 milion)

Taxation

Theuﬂnsaﬁonomxlomandadefbmdi;xmditaﬁshgonﬂneMauonoﬂnwueassetshamsuhdmataxaedﬂfor
the year of £2.4 milibn (2078: £1.1 million)

The Group therefore reported a lass after tax from conlinuing operations ¢f £8.5 million {2018: loss of £28.5 million), which equales
to a basic loas per share of 2.12 pence; (2018: loss per shate of 11.97 pence).

Statement of Financlal Position
Non-current assets

The Group has pro;)eny plant and equipment of £9.7 million (2018:£9.8 million} all of which are subject to depreciation aéper the.
policies set oul in the eccompanying financial statements. During the year ihere were additions of £3.1 miﬁbn,szs milion of this
is in relation o the IFRS16 transifion {2018; additions.£0.6 million).

Further, infangible assels of goodwil, trademarks oapilatised technology and customer coniracts are £21.1 mifkon (2018: £27.4
milion) and ere subject to amoriisation as per the poficiés set out in the accompanying fmanclal statements. There was a goodwill
impairment charge of £3m in 2019 relating-to ¥ie recoverability against future cashfiows from IDE Group Connect (2018: £17.5
milion). Details are shown in note 14.

Trade and other recetvables

Trade and other receivables refiact.revenus reductions.in comparison to the previous year at £7.6. milllon (2018; ﬁg’rmlhou)
including lrade recaivables of £5.4 milion (2018: £6.4 million) after a cradit loss provision of £0.6 million (2018 £0.7 miltion). Whilst
the.overall reduction in trada raceivables can be altriduted io the fall in year-on-year revenues, there have beBn féductions resuiting
from improved customer paymenis and an improvement in the aged profile resulling in lower credit loss proviSions.

_ Trade ind other paysbles

Trade and other payables amountéd to £7.6 mition (2018: £7.7 million), includi ing rade payables of £6.6 ridlion (2018: £4.9 ritbon)
and accruals of £1.3 milion (2018; £1,8 mllllon). Thiird pérty suppliers’ cosle, which aré bemg réducad where possibie, remain fairly

gl year-on-year.

Conliact liabilities arise frin customers being invdiced In advarice of services delivered, in aocordfarice with fadividual coniractual
ferms, at the balance sheel dtg tis amounnea © £1.9 million (2018: £3.0 fillion), e desfedss Bdéts the redittlon'in overal
révanuds &% well & the mix of cistomers' contractual obiigations for payment

Caméw and net debt

Casnmnaimafranoperamgmnesdcmgmeyearwas£04mnm{zmscasnusedssanﬂMn) Losses for the year saw

a materal improvement to £8.7 milion loss (2018: loss of £32.6 milion), afid working capital reduced fo £0.3 milion (2018: £3.2
inition). The Grotip invested £0.2 milkon {2018: £0.3 mitlion) in fixed assets andnelnewfnmlg amounted to £3.7 million (2018:
£4.2 milion). The het resultts that as at 31 December 2019 there ware ho bank borrowings or overdraft debt and the cash balance
was £0.7 million (2018 overdraft of £2.9 milion). -
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Financial Review (continued)
Cashfiow and net debt (ontinusd)

Duting the year the Company raised £11.5 milkion by way of an issue of secured Joan notes ("Loan Nolas"} in three iranches: one
in January 2019, the second in March 2019 and the third'in Decembér 2019. The Loan Notes have a term of 6 years and an annual
coupon of 12% which Is compounded and payable &t fhe erd of the term, The proceeds of the issue of the Loan Nofes were used
1o fully repay the revolving ctedit facikity of £4.75 milkion and overdat of£3.5 milion provided by Netwest and provide additionaf
working capital fot-the Groop,

with the issue of the Loan Notes, the Groupnow has no extemal debt othir than with its ajof shareholders and has longer-term
funding, thereby affording sécurity for all the Group's stakefiolders.

Dividend
The Directors do not prapose a dividend in respect of the current financial year (2018: Enil).
Update and outlook for 2020°

Following the cost reduction programme started in 2018, and a renewed focus on customer retention and service delivery, in order
o drive increased profitability and cash generation; the Group ended the year in a much stronger position than it starfed it, with a
sirong and consistent leadership team, an appropriate cost base and clear focus on operalional execution and customer service.

The additional refinanting has provided long term funding and means that the Company has no external debt, as the Loan Noles
are held solely by shareholders, and predominantly by Ihe larges! shareholders. Since the year end there has been an improvement
in the pipeline of opportunities across the business bolh wilh exisiing and new customers and the Group has been frading at
acceptable levels of profitably In the year to date.

The COVID-19 outbreak has presented the Grolp with an Unexpected new set of challenges. Ori a macroeconomic level, it is 160
sarly to predict the medium-term impact on global and regional economies. The UK government has anndunced an unprecedented
£100 billion+ fiscal benefits package to help cushion the impact on jobs and public and private sector industries. Although, as yet,
the consequences of COVIN-19 on the Group have been fimited, it does have the polential ko impact the LIK economy, with the
conlinued closure of ‘non-essential’ businesses, although with the easing of the COVID-19 lock down seen in early July the impact
on the Group has been temporary and limited; lo date IT managed services hiave remained buoyant during the UK-wide fock down,
with increased reliance on mobile working and the need to facilitate customers’ staff working remotely.

The Board remains confident of the Group's fulure prospects.
Going concem ‘

The Directors have taken advantage of the Government's Job Retention Scheine o furlough some stafl members during the
COVID-19 lockdown period, as well as senior staff taking a short-lerm 20% salary reduction, and also deferment of PAYE ‘and
VAT liabilites. There has. been increased demand for kfecycle services which necessitated an increase in shifts and production,
and this has offset minor reductions in user support desk activities.

The Direclors have prepared detailed cash fliow projections; these projections, considering reasonably possible changes in trading
performance and the timing of key strategic events, including COVID-19, show the Group expects fo operale within the level and
conditions of available funding, The directors note, however, that although the cash fow projections show thal the group expects
to have sufficient cash resources throughout the forecast period, the levels of cash fluctuale ang al imes in the forecast period are
relatively low, The conlinuing Covid-19 pandemic creates added uncertainties for the Group. Any reasonably possible deviation
from the forecast cash inflows could result in the Group requiring additional funding.

The direclors have discussed the future cashfiows with two of the Group's major shareholders who are represenied on the Board
and, furthermore, note the continued support of these sharehciders, as demonsiraled by the refinancing during the year. in
reaching their conclusion on the going concern assumption, the directors nole and rely on the lefter of support provided by MXC
Capital Limiled, in which they undertake to continue to provide such financial support needed for confinued operations for a period
not less than ane year from the date of approval of these financial stalements. The direclors having made the necessary fhquidies,
have satisfied themselves of MXC Capital’s abilily to provide such finance if necessary. After making enquiries and having fégard
lo the FRC's Guidance fo Companies on COVID-19 issued in March 2020, the Direclofs have a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resourcas to conlinue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Group continues
to adopt the going concem basis in preparing its consolidated financial slatements. )
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Strategic Report _ : .
Review of the Businass

A detalled review of the Business is set out in ihe Chairman's Statement and ttie Financial Review. The year under review was a
one for the business with overall revenues’ declining year-on-yedr, Rowevet gross margin Miproved and adjusted
EBITDA* moved from a loss to a profit. Future developments and current trading and, prospécts. are sef.out it the Chaiman's
Statement and the Financial Review. These teports together with the Gomome Govemance Stateinent are fncorpotated into this
Strateglc Reportby teferenice and shouid be tead as part of this réport. The Group's siralegy Is focused on méximising value fot
stakeholders by ihcteasing tevéhies and profits, by upseNing to our currefit customet base a¢ well as by tringing new cuslomers
on board.
Al 31 December 2019, ffie Board comptised 3 Drectors {2018: 3); all of which are male {2018; all of which were male). Al 31
December 2019, the Group had 262 employees (including Directors) (2018: 303), of which 203 (2018: 232) are Male and'60 (2018:
71) are female.

* Adjusted EBITDA is defined as eamings before interest, tax, deprecialion, amortisation, impairment charges, exceplional items,
loss on disposal of fixed assels: and share-based payments

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Identifying, evaluating and managing the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group is an integrat part of the way the Group
does business. There aré policies and procedures in place throughout the operations, embadded within our management structure
and as part of our normal operaling processes.

The Group maintains a business risk register which is reviewed by the Board on a bi-annual basis. Each risk has an owner o the
Group's execulfve cominiltee and is assigned a consequence and probability value, multipkied to give a risk vaiue. The impact,
measures in place and tactics to miligate fisks are assessed on a regular basis. Thé risk categories, sel out belw; fiave been
identified by thé Boerd as those currently considered (o potentially have the most material impact on fhe Group's future
performance. in addition to thesa risks, nole 23 contains details of financial risks.

COvID-19

The COVID-19 outbreak has the polentia! to cause significant disrupfion ko the UK economy and, while the financial impact of the
Group is difficult to quantify, several scenarios have been examined in respect of the financial impact of the COVID-19 outbreak
on the businesses. During the lock-down period the Group saw some reductions in user support desk activilies, which were
mitigated by furloughing staff through the Job Retentioh Schemé. Howevér, data cenitre and conneltivity businass remained at
expecied levels, and we saw a significant incredse in lifecycle services as certain customers ramped up deployment of equipment
to facilitate their own staff working remolely,

We have continued to see new opportunities during lock-down, dnd believe that the demand for centralisad managed services,
cloud, user support desk, mobile working & collaboration, and over-arching business continuity sclutions wifl provide good
opportunities during the remainder of 2020. However, the Board canlinues 10 monitor the situation and act to mitigale any financial
impact which arises from defays to projects or possiie reduction in IT managed seéfvices provision. '

Market and Economic Conditions

. Market and economic condilions are recognised as one of the principal risks i the current trading environment.  The risk s

mitigated by the monitoring of rading conditions and changes in govemment legislation, the development of action plans to address
specific legislative changes and the constant search for ways (o achieve new eficiencies In the business wiffiout impacting service
levels.

Exit of UK from European Union

The UK left the Europsan Union post the Group’s year end and antered a 12-month transilion period (commonly referred to as
*Brexit”), Whilsi negofiations belween the UK and-the European Union continue the impact of Brexil is not yef clear, but it may
significantly affect the fiscal, monetary and reguiatory tandscape in the UK, and could have a.material impact 6n its economy and
the future growth of its various indusifies. Depending on the exit terms negoliated between EL) Member States and the UK following
Brextt, the UK is (tkely 10 lose access to the single European Union market and the global iradé deals egoliated by the European
Union on behalf of its members.
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Strategic Report (continied)
Exit of UK from European Union (continued)

The UK ¢ould, howéver, corféspondingly acquire the right to secure additional iriate deals with non-EU counffies and with the EU
itself. Sdch a change in trade terms could affect the atiractiveness of the UK as-ah investment cehire and, as a result, couki have
a detrimental or positive effect on UK comipanies and financial markets: Afthough ft is not possible lo predict fully the effects of an
exit of the UK from the European Union, i could have a material effeci on the business, financial condition and results of operations
of the Grotip. The Grotip pays atterition to the pragress: and direction of the Nagotiations and il take any actions open to if to
Mitigate any 1fsk as the impact becomes dlearer, The Group has afso discussed the potential Impact of “Brexit” with a number of
key clients who Will be direclly affected, to ensife its services are relevant in the future econamic environment, howaver, from
these discussions, the Group ddes not expect to have to make sighificant changes of inciir significant disruption as a consequence,

Redianca on Key Personnel and H;magemenf

The success of the Group Is dependent on the services of Rey managemen and operating personnel. Thie Directors believe fhat
the Group's future success will be lafgely dependent on its abillty fo retain and attract highly skilled and qualified personnel and to
pain and manage its empioyee base. During Ine yéar, the fesirtictiving programme continued which resulied i inore members of
staff being made fedundant and other members of staff moving inlo new foles. For those who remain there are several employee
benefits and aclive communication i§ encouraged within the busihess to Mitigate the rigk of losing skifled and qualified individuals.
Furthermore, there is an apprenticaship scheme which the Group beliaves will assist in raining and retaining younger individuats

going forward. :
Compeiition

“The Group operates in a highly competitive marketplace and while the Directors befieve the Graup enjoys certain strengths and
advaniages in competing for business, some of the competitors are much iarger with considerable scale thal coufd allow them to
offer simllar services for lower prices, thus impacting the Group's ability lo win hew business. The Group monitors competitors’
activity and constanlly reviews its own services and prices to ensure a compelitive position in the:market is maintained.

Technology

The market for the Group’s services is in a stale of constant innovalion and change. The Group devotes significant resource to

the development of new service ines, ensuring new lechnologies can be incotporated and integrated with the Group's core
services, The nature of the Group's services means that they are axposed to arange of technological risk, such as viruses, hacking

and an ever-changing spectrum of security risk. The Group maintains conslant pro-active vigilance against such risks and

maintains membership of some of the highest levels of security accreditation as part of the service it offers ils customers.

Infrastricture Failure

The Directors bekieve that one of the key differentiators the Group offers is that its services are provided over its own controlied
and managed infrastructure, such #s its own networks and data centre. Whilst this provides cuslomers with comfort over the
resillence and reiability, the Group is also exposed to risks of infrastructure failore. A crilical element of the Group’s aperating
methodoldgies and procedures i to iitigate such risks through the careful constriiction, maintenance and management of its
infrastriscture. All networks and the data cenire have fully resifient fail-over procedures with regular testing of back-up and recovery
plans, ‘

1
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Strategic Report (confinued)
3.172 Companies Act 2006: Statement of Directors’ Duties o Stakeholders

The Directors of the company have-a duty to promote the success of the company. A direcior of the company must act i the way
they consider, in good faith, lo promote the success of the company for the benefit of ils members, and in doing $o have regard
{amongst other matters) to:

the likely consequences of any decision in the long lerm;

thia inteyests of ihe Company's ampicyees;

the need fo fosier the Company's busiriess relatioriships with $uppliers, tustomets dnd dthers;

the impact of the Company's operations ori thé community and the énvironment,

the desicability of ihe Company to mainiain a repulation for high standards of business denduct; and
the nesd to act fairly betwesn members of the Company.

TheDirecEnrsaremmmiuedtodevelophgmdmam'aiﬁhgagovemande‘na'newomﬁaiisappfopﬁatelsomebusinessand
supports effective dacision making coupled with robust oversight of risks and interfial coritrols,

Faimess

The Board's poiicy Is to behave responsibly; ethically and fairly at alf imes towards shareholders and other external stakeholders,
in line with our Company values, and 1o ensure that our management feams operate the business in a responsible and fair manner
and 1o the highest slandards of business conduct and good governance.

Engagement with Employees

The company continues {0 focus on building channels that ensure the company is effeclively listening and responding to
smplovees. In doing 80, tha company can ilenlify opportunities to belter mest amployee fieeds, heip them wilh their career .
progression and build the skills required to continue helping our business thrive. During the perod, the company focused on intemal
performance management and development o ensure employees have clear objectives and an undérstanding of their contribution
1o our overal business success and goals.

The company sirives lo creale a diverse dnd inclusive working environrnent where every employee feels welcome and can do their
best work. We believe in the benefits of diversily and the importance of bringing a wide range of skills, experience and parspectives
into our business. The- directors confinually work with senidt management o promote the Company's values and (0 monitor
altitudes dnd behaviours (o ensure that they are consistent with our culture,

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business refationship with the Company

Suppliers '

As a company dependent on suppliers and partners to deliver services for all of our stakefiolders, we strive lo manage these
refationships as closely as passible fo ensure they meet our standards. The Company is commifted lo ensuring lhe highest
standards and quality across our aperafions and require bath our suppliers and pariners lo operale io thé same high standards.
Customers

Our godl is 1o deliver best-in-class service for all of our cusfomers and to be & genuine managed services provider by seamlessty
acting as thé outsourced provider of services o our customers and thedr staff.

Environmenl

The Group acknowledges il$ responsibililies- for environmental matters and where practicable adopts environmentally sound
policies in its working practices, such as recyciing papér and packaging waste and using specighst recyclers of scrap -
tetecommtunications and IT équipment. A major consideration when replacing companyvefilcles is their impact on the environment.
The Group also makes use of in-house collaboration tools io reduce the need for lravel to nugeﬁngs and operales flexible working

practices where possible, reducing the environmental impact of commuting. Posilive experiance of an increase in these acliviies
during ihea COVID-19 pandemic suggess thesa will continue al a higher level after the.end of the pandami than before.
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| Strategic Report {continued)

Strategy

The market for network, cloud and T managed services in the Uniled Kingdom is highly fragmented and is served by a broad
spectrum of businesses from global telecommunication companies through hardware and software providers, system integrators
and a range of independent managed service providers of varying sizes through o companies providing individual elements of the
IT managed services spectrum. The market is growing, driven by the conlinued move towards ofi-premise solutions and mobile
access fo secure services.

~ The Group postions itself in the market as being able 1o combine the benefits of its network and data centre with a flexibie and
technically skiled worklorce able ko deliver and support crilical services and solutions in a highly secure environment. The Group
seeks ko differantiate itself in three distinct ways: -

*  Innovation - innovation in the design and delivery of services;
¢ Reliability - the rigﬁt technical skills organised in the right way, fo give predictable high quality results; and
‘s Value - service offerings that are designed to offer value for money fo mid-market customers.

Through these differentialors, the Group aims lo atiract new customers and to deepen and broaden the relationship with existing
customers. The Board's strategy for growth comprises:

=  (Ongoing investment in expanding and enhancing our own infrastruciure so that we can provide our cuslomers with the
vary highast level of security and service;

*  Maximise the levels of revenue from our wide ranging cusiomer base through high levels of service and a varied product
and service set, and

+  Efficiant use of our scale and resources o explore and invest in new technologies so thal our customers can benefit from
the high levels of innovation across the whole industry. )

The Group would also consider acquisition opportunities within the sector which would offer synergies and complementary or
addilive products and services. Our acquisition criteria are strict and mean that we would only consider buying a business whose
operating model is simiar 16 our own, would increase eamnings, have high recurring revenues and would not over-leverage the
Group. .

Despile the challenges we met in 2019, the Board believes that the Group's position between the very large system integrators
~and network operators and the smaller competitors thal may lack defivery structure, reputation, rellablllty and financial strength
remains a very compelling one.

The Groyp has a strong and reliable set of core infrastructure and has developed a delivery model that provides assurance and
certainty for customers. This underlying platform is the core strengih of the Group and the Group will continue %o consider
augmenting ils underlying organic growth with acquisitions to leverage this platform, should there be a compeling strategic and
financial case.

" On behalf of the Board

1an Smith
Executive Director
13 July 2020

24 Dublin Street
Edinburgh EH1 3PP

13



(Fage 16 of 79)

IQE Group Holdings plc
Annual repart and financial stateriénis
Year ended 31 Decembet 019
Directors’ Report

The Direclors present their report logether with the audiled consolidated finariclal statements for the-year ended 31 December
2019 for IDE Group Holdings, pic ("IDE" ot the “Company”) and its subsidiaties (together, the *Group”).

Principal Adi.vit'y

The principal activily of the Group diring the year was i supply nefwork, cloud and IT managed services. meCompmylsaholdmg
company.

Review of thé Year
Themnewoﬂheyearmdmemm sltafegyareseiouimme SttabgncRgpm.
Dividends

The Conisany did nok pay 3 dividend during the ysar ended 31 Degémber 2019 (2018: £nil, The Diréciors do ot recominend the
bayment of a didend al 31 Decetnber 2019 2018; ). ‘

Directors

The Directors who held office during the period and p to the date of the Annual Report are as follows;

lan Smith

Andy Parker

Matthew ("Max") Royde (remgnsd 13 November 2019}

Sebastian While (appointed 12 November 2018)

Company Secretary

Deigany Corparale Services Limited

A brief biography of the-current Direglors can b found below:

Andy Parker ~ Non-Exsculive Chairman

©On 10 August 2018 Andy was appointad as Non-Executive Director, on 5 October 2018wasapponlad as Non:Execulive Chairman
and for the period 15 Oclober 2018 to 21 May 2020 held the position of Exgcutive Chairman. On 21 May 2020 Andy took (he role
of Non-exscutive Chairman,

Andy is an experienced commerclal, operafional and financial professional. A chariered accountant, Andy-has held a wide range
of commercial and finance roles.culminating most recently i his tendre as Chief Executive Officer of Capita Group plc, the FTSE
350 professional supporl services company. Andy has hekd a numbet of finance director. roles during his career and is 3 highly
experienced public markets board director.

Andy i the Chair of #he Audil Committes and a meniber of the Remuneration Committee.

fan Smith - Exacutive Director

On t June 2018, lan was appointed as Execulive. Direclor.

lan has an extensive rack record of investing in and managing technology companies and is co-founder and CEQ of MXC Capital
Limited. lan has sat on numerous boards and either led or been involved in a large number of ransactions in the TMT seclor. lan -

led strategic change and value accretion at Redslone pic and Accumuii plc and was previously deputy executive chairman and

CEOQ at Castieton Technology pic.

lan holds no direct beneficial interest in IDE Group, however, is .CEQ and @ subslantial shareholder of MXC Capital Limited, a
subslantial shareholder and loan note holder in the Company.

“{anis a member of the Remuneration Commitiee and the Audit Committee.
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Directors’ Report (confinued)
Sebastian White - Nom-Executive Director

On 12 Noveinber 2019, Sebasiian was appointed as Non-Executive Director.
Sebastian is an experienced invéstment and company director al Kestrel Pariners LLP, & London based fund management

Buging¥s whose clients are significani sharsholders of IDE Group. Hg has deep experiance. of the communicaions and hosting
sactorfolowing 14 yedrs as head of corporate developmenf in a mid-marke{ AIM listied pic.

Bebastian isa membef afthe Reruneration Commifles and a merber of the Audit commilteg.

As permitled by the Articles of Association, the Dirgctors have the benefit of an indemnity which is 2 qualifying third-party indemnity
peovision a$ defined by Seclion 234 of the Compainies Act 2006. The indemnity was in forcs throughout the last findncial year and
i§ currenily in force. The Company also purchased and maintained Dirgclors’ and Officers’ liability insurance throughoul the
financigl year in respect of itse!f and ils Dirgctors.

Andy Parker, tan Smith and Sebastian White retire in line with the terms of the articles of the Company and being exgiblé, offer
themselves for rg-elaction af ihe Torthcoiming Annual General Meeting.

Directors' Micd Contracts .
Details of the Direclors’ service conlracts and their respechive nolice lerms are detailed in the Remuneration Commitiee report.
Directors’ interogts

The interasts of the Directors at the end of the year in the ordinary sha:es of the Company al 31 December 2018, togelher with
their interests al 31 December 2018 were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

Andy Parker . : .
lan Smith* . -
Sebastian White™ . - .

" !an‘Smim is Chiaf Executive Officer and a subslantial shareholder of MXC Capital Limited which as al 31 December 2019 hekd
172,951,125 ortlinary shares (31 December 2018: 172,811,125 ordinary shares)

b Sebastfan White is the Inveslment Direclor of Keslrel Partners LLP, whose clienls heid in ofsl 32,627,340 ordinary shéres as
at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 36,497,252 ordinary shares)

15
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Directors’ Report fcontinusd) - ' -
Substaitiat Shareholdets

At 31 December 2019 ahd at 27 Marth 2020, being the (atest praclicable dale before the publicativn of the Annuaf Repoit, the
Company is aware of the following significant interests in its ordinaéy, voling share capital:

31 Deceimber 2018 31 Decembaer 2019 27 March 2020 27 March 2020

Sharehoider name Number % Number %
MXC Capital Limited* 172,951,125 43.2 172,931,125 431
Bil Cobbie? 55476,117 138 55,488,117 138
Richard Griffiths 34,022,581 85 32,772,561 82 -
Kestrel Partners LLP3 32,627,340 8.t 32,628,810 81
LMS Capital 18,161,835 45 18,161,835 45
Matt Hawking? 18,370,627 41 16,370,627 4%

1. MXC Capital Limiled is @ retated party; lan Smith, Exaculive Director, is Chief Execulive Officer and a substantial shanshoider. of MXC

Capital Lifalted ,

2. FormerDiractor of the Company . .

3. Sebastiah White, Noh-Executive Direcior of the Company, Is Inviistment Director of Kestrel Paririers LLP

4. Forthes Director of the Company

Political Donations

The Group and Company have not made any pofitical donations in ihe year ended 31 December 2018 (2018: nil).
Auditor

RSM UK Audit LLP were sippoinited as audilor duting the year. A resolution is to be proposed ai the forthcoming AGM for thé re-
appoiniment of RSM UK Audit LLP as auditor lo the Company, al a rate of remuneration to be delerminéd by the Audit Corriiittes.

Financial Risk Managemént Objectives and Policy- -

. The Company's financial risk management objectives and policies are described in note 24 1o the financial statements. The key
objectives are:
Cash flow risk
The Group receives inlerest on cash and cash equivalents and pays interest on its borrowings.
The impact on post-tax profif dnd equity of a #/- 1% shift in the interest rate would not be material.
Pricé risk
The Group is not exposed to significant commodify or security prices risk,

- Cradil risk
Credit risk is managed at 2 subsidiary level. Credit risk arises from:cash and cash equivalents ds well as tredil exposures fo
customers, including cutslanding receivables. Individual risk limits are set based on infernal and external ratings and reviewed by
management. The ulilisation of credit limils is regularly monilored with approprale action taken by management in the event of
the breach of a credil imit. The Group has applied the simpiifiad approach applying a provision matrix based on number of days past
due lo measure lifetime expecled credit losses and after taking into account customers with different credit risk profiles and current

and forecast irading conditions. The Group has recognised a provision in respect of irade recgivables of £0.6 million (2018: £0.7
million), ' .
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Directors’ Report (continued)
Financial Risk Management Objactives and Policy (continued)
Liquidity risk

Managemenl reviews cash forecasts of trading companies of the Group in accordance with practice and limits set by the Group.
The Group's liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid assels necessary fo
meei these.

Employee involvement

The fiow of information 1o staff has been maintained by our staff emai bulletins and staff meelings. Members of the management
team regulary discuss matters of current interest and concern to the business with members of siaff, in particular in regard to
providing information on performance indicators, encouraging employee participation and engendering a common awareness of
financial and sconomic factors which affect the company’s performance

The company continues to focus on building channels that ensure the company is effectively listening and respending 1o
employees. In doing so, the company can identify opportunities fo better meel employee needs and interests, reflecting these
where possible in the principal decisions taken by the company.

Disabled persons

The company is commitiad to a policy of recruitment and promotion on the basis of aptitude and ability without discrimination of
any kind. Management actively pursues both the employment of disabled persons whenever a suilable vacancy arises and the
continued employment and relraining of employees who become dissbled whifst employed by the company. Particulas

. atlenion is given 1o training, career developmenl and promotion of disabled employees with a view to encouraging them to play
an active role in the development of the company.

Disclosure of information to the Auditor

Each of the Directors who was in office on the date of approval of these financial stalemenls, having made enquiries of the feflow
Directors, confirms that:

» To the best of each Director’s knowledge and belief, there is no information relevant to the preparation of their repart of
which the Group’s auditor is unaware; and

. 'Each Direclor has taken all the steps a Direclor might reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of relevant
audit information and o establish that the Group’s audilor is aware of that information. :

Subsequent Events
Full details of post balance sheet events are included in note 30 to the conscfidaled financial stalements.

Future Devdopmenté
Fulure developments and current trading and prospecis are set outin the Chairman's Statement and the Financial Review.

On behaif of the Board

N m———

tan Smith
Executive Director
13 July 2020

24 Dyblin Street
Edinburgh
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Remuneration Committee Report

Reémuneratioh Committee

At 31 Dacember 2018, the Refhunetation Committee Gomprised Ahdy Pasker (Chai), lan Smith aiid Seb White.

The Remuneration Commitiee is respdasible for detentiining and dgrésing with tfé Baard the famewdik for the remunefation of
Exéculive Directors and other designdted sehior executives and, within agreed lerms of reference, determfhing the totaf individual
remuneration packages of such persons, Including, where appropriate, Bonuises, incshtivie payrhients and share options of dther
sharé awards. The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is a matier fof ihe Execiive Diteciors. No direcior fs involved in any
décision as to his or her own remynaration or benefits. - ‘

RémunéraBion Policy

Thé Remuriersition Commitiee is, aware that the remuneration packa@ should be sufficiently competitive fo attract, retain and
motivate individuals capable of achieving the Group's objectives and thereby enhancing sharsholder value.

Basic Salary ind Benefii
Basic salaries fof the Exéculive Directors are reviewed in January each year. The benefils provided o the Exaculive. Direclors

" may include contributions to 4 Group defined contribution pengion scheme, private medicat insurance for theméelves, their spouse

and their children, life assuraricé cover of 4 times saldry, critical Mies§ and income profection cover, a company car allowarice
and annaf leave of 25 days. 7 :

Performance Mgd- Bonus

The Remuneration Commities delermines the criteria for the award of performance bonuses for the Execlitive Directors in advance
of each year. The.bonuses are pensionable. Non-Executive Direclors do riol recaive a bonus.

Fees

The Board, within the limits sfipulated by the Articles of Association and following recommendations by the: Executive Direcldrs.
determines Non-Executive Directors' fees. The annual fees are £30,000 (2018: £30,000) for a Non-Executive Direclor and £50,000

" for a Non-Execulive Chairman. Jongthan Watts stepped down from the board in January 2018.and was paid in ieu of nofice.

Directors' emoluments

For Directars who held office during the year, emokiments for tfie year ended 31 December 2019 were as folows:

Salaryffees Benefits Pension 2019total 2018 iolal
£ £ £ £ £

Executive
Andy Ross - - - - 141,144
Julian Phipps . - - - - 92,870
lan Smith? §0,000 - 50,000 = 29,167
Andy Parkeé " 150,000 . - 150,000 38,469
Non-Executive:
Jonathan Watls _ - - - 18,668
Bill Dobbie - - - 20,000
Katherine Ward - - - - 2334
Max Royde? 26,048 .- - 26,048 1177
Sebastian White? 3952 - - 3,952 -
Total 230,000 . - 230,000 368.8_31’

1. Directors’ emoluments in respact of lan Smith were paid to MXC Advisory Limited, a subsidiary of MXC Capitat Limiled
2. Directors’ emoluments in respect of Max Royde and Saebastian Whilte were paid lo Kesirel Partners LLP
18
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Remijheration Corinittae Réport (continued)

The Executive Directors' salaries are paid by subsidiary companies. within the Group. The Non-Executive Director fees and the:
fee to MXC. Advisary Limited for lan Smith's services are paid by the Company.

(Ll

Andy Parker:
Chak, Rémunerafion Commities.
Onr behalf of the Board

13 July'2020
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Corporate Governance Statement

Since Seplember 2018 all AIM companids hiave been required Jo comply with a fecognised Corporale Governance Coié and 1o
disclosa how the govetmance code has been implemented of to explain any areas of depattura from its requicements. iDE carefully
feviewed and thed resoived to apply the Quoled Companies Aliance Corporate Governance Code ("QCA Codé”) publishisd in Apfil
2018 which is constricted around 10 broad principles. This report sets out out approach to the QCA Code and governiance. Our
‘sornpliance with the 10 principles is also available 10 view on the Compahy’s websile: www.idegroup.com.

Principle 1 - Establish a strategy and bushess mode) which promote long-terri value for shareheidérs.

The Board undertook a strategic and operational review in 2018 (the Stralagic and Operational Review"). This resulted if & revised
business model and strategy, folowed by a period of sralegic realignment in 2019. The Group’s Slrelegy is set dutif thie Slrategic
Raport on page 10. The Chairman's Statement on page 3 and Financial Review on page 7 provide informiation &f how the Company
performed against its stated sirategy. The Strategic Report includes information on the Principal Risks and Uncetainties faced by
the Company in 2019 and how the Company has acted lo reduce its exposuré o risk. The Boald's objective is to sacuré the long:
term success of e Company by astablishing a sustainable and profitable operating modé! wilh an appropriste inderlying cosl
basa in order {0 create long-ferm value for shareholders and stakeholders alike.

The Group's rading companies are IDE Group Manage Limiled, which provides outsourced IT services, including 1st, 2nd and 3rd

- line IT support and netwerk-based solutions, and IDE Group Connect Limiled, which provides network services and dala cenfre

hosting services. Work has confinued on a cost reduction programme within these operations with a focus on right-sizing the Group
fo enable it o trade profitably. With this substanally complets it Company Is focused on growing its existing businesses in order
to increase value fo shareholdéers. The Board will ontinbe to mohitor its progress against its revised staled strategy.

Principle 2 - Seek to understand and meet sharehoide needs and expectations.
IDE is committed fo open communication with all its shareholders.

Copies of the Annual Report ang Accounts are issued lo all shareholders who have requesied them, and copies are available on
the Group's investor website www.idegroup.com. The Group’s inlerim results are also made available on the Group's website. The
Group makes full use of its investor website lo provide information lo shareholders and other interested. parties.

The Board reviews proxy voting reports and any significant dissent is discussed with relevant shareholders and, if necsssary,
action is taken ‘o resolve any issues. in compliance with best practice, the level of proxy votes (for, against and vole withheld)
lodged orv each resolution is declared at all general meetings and ih fulire will be announced.

Andy Parker, Non-Execulive: Chairman, and lan Smith, Exacutive Director, are primarlly responsible for communicating with:
investors. Meetings via the Company's broker are offered ko major inslitutional shareholders to discuss strategy, finanglal
performance and investment activity immediately after the full year and interim results announcemants. The Non-Execulive Direclor
is also available to meet wilh other major shareholders if such mestings are requested. Feedback from such meelings with
shareholders is provided (o the Board to ensure the Directors have a balanced understanding of the issues and concams of major
shareholders.

Shareholders are given the opporfunily fo raise questions at the Annual General Meeling and the Direclors are available both
before and after the meating for further discussion with shareholders. Representativas of two of the largest shareholders are on
the board, being fan Smith for MXC Capilal Limitad and Sebastian White (Non-Executive Direclor) for Kestrel Pariners LLP. Both
lan and Sebastian have had influence over the restructuring of both the Board and the Group as a whole which has.taken place i
the year under review and, fogether with Andy Parker, have lead the strategic direction of the Group since their respective
appoiniments. i

The Board receives share register analysis reports to monitor the Company's shareholder base and help- identify the types of
investors on the register.
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Principle 3 ~ Take into account widet stakeholder and social responsibilities and their implicatiohs for long-term
success. '

The Group recognises its empioyees, customers, suppliers, advisors, banks and shargholders as forming part of the wider
stakeholder group. Management idehiifies key refationships. within the business and effort is directed to ensufing these
relaionships are managed appropriately. Regular reviews are underiaken to ensure any issues gre-addressed promptly.

The Board reviews ils.larges! clents dnd suppliers in'its Boarg meetings, and these are i’dehﬁhd Ih packs provided (o the-Board.

The Company has a good relatfo'nship With its NOMAD, broker and other advisers. Fesdback from inveslors is phovided by the
broker as well as throtigh difect engagement wilh ihvestors by the Boatd. :

The Group meets frequently with customers ahd commuricates reqularly With suppliets, Thete is a feedback system in place ahd
issues raised can be. addressed.

The Group has adopted a.Modem Slavery Policy as part of its larget commitment ko encourage ethical, social and environmehldl
responsibility. The policy is available to view on the Company's website.

The Group's internal stakeholders are its employees. The Group is commitied to étrlployn\enl policies which follow: best practice,
based on equal opportunities for all employees, irespective of elhnic origin, religion, political opinion, dehdet, marilal status,
disability, age or sexval crientation.

Staff policies

The Group's employment policies are designed to-ensure that they meat the statulory, social and market practices ih the Uniled

- Kingdom. The Group systematically provides employees with information on matters of concern o them, consulting them or their
represéntatives reguiarly, so that their views can be taken inlo account when making decisions that are likely lo affect their interests.
Employee involvement in the Group is encouraged, as achieving a common awareness on the part of all employees on the financial
and economic factors affecting the Group, plays a major role in maintaining its relationship with its stafi.

The Group gives full and fair consideration to applications for employment for disabled parsons, taking into account aplitude and

abilities. Appropriale arrangements are made for the confinued employment and training, career development and promotion of -
disabled persons employed by the Group. This includes, where applicable and possible, the retraining and retention of staff who -
bacome disabled during their employment.

The Board believes that its invesiment in the wider stakeholdar network is-expecled lo assist the Company's management in
achieving its long-term goals creating an environment of trust and communication which will have. positive mplications for the long-
term sticoess of the Group.

. Principle 4 — Embed effective tisk management, considering both opportunities and threats, throughout the
organisation.

Risk assessment and evaluation is an essential parl of the Group's planning and an importanl aspect of the Group's intemal control
system. The businéss and management of the Company and its subsidiaries are the collective fesprisibility of the Board. At each
meeting, the Board considers’and reviews the trading performance of the Group. The Board has a formal writtén schedule of
matters reserved for its review and approval. These include the approval of the annual budget, major capital expenditure,
invesiment proposals, thé interim and annual results and'a review of the overall system of infernal contral and risk management.

The results of thé Strategic and Operalional Review underfaken in 2018 followed by a period of strategic reafignment in 2019 have
enabled the current Board Lo identify the most critical risks and challenges facing ifie business and to take ihe necessary sieps to
miligale thesé risks by strengthening its conlrol systems and policies where necessary. The revised and refined system of tsk
management is explained in the Strategic Raport under ihe heading Principal Risks and Uncerlainties. The Board has established
a risk register which is bespoke to the Group's business. The risk register is reviewed ai least twice a year, and the Board considers
tiie appropriateness of the risks identified and the mitigating action laken by management on a risk by risk basis with a particular
focus on those deemed most critical.
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Principle § — Maintain the board #s a well-functioning, balanced team led by the Chair.

Membership of the Board and information on each member can be found in the Directors’ Report. The Boaed is currently comprised
of oné Exécutive and two Nori-Execulive Direclors, and during the year ended 31 Decamber 2018, it was supported by & interim
Chief Financial Officer and other senior managers, and it oversees and implements. the Company’s corporale govérhance

proglamme.

As Nor-Executive Chaintian, Aridy Parker is responsible for the Company’s approach to corporale governaiice and thé application
of the piinciples of the QCA Code. As Aridy was grevidusly Executive Chairman of the Comgidny, until hé slepped down fiom the
role in 2020, he Is not consideréd 15 bé a1 indépéndent diractor.

lan Smith is the Exacutive Director, and whilst hé holds ro direct béneficial interest in IDE Group, e is the Chief Execulive Officer -
and a substantial shareholder of MXC Capital Limited, lan i nétoonsuderad lobsan mdepéﬂdeﬂl direclor-as MXC Capital Limited
is a substantial sharehokier of the Coinpany.

Sebastian White was appointed Non-Executive Ditector in November 2019. As Investrent Direcior of Kestrel Partners LEP, a
London based fund management business whose cllents are significant shargholders of IDE-Group, Sebastian is nol considersd

fo be independent. .

Each Boand memhu commits sufficient time 1o fulfil their dulies and obligations to the Board and the Company. They attend regular
monthly board meetings and join ad hoc board calls and offer availabilily for consultation when needed. The contractual
arrangements Setween the Directors and the Company specify the minimum time commitments which are considered sufficient for
the proper discharge of their duties. However, in exceptional circumstancas all Board members undmlandmeneed fo commit
additional time.

Detaled board packs include information on all business units and financial pedormance and are circulated ahead of Board
meetings. Key issues are highlighled and axplained, providing Board members with sufficient information (o enable a relevent
discussion In the Board meeling.

The Board is supporiad by its Audit Commitiee and its Remuneralion Committee. The number of Board and Commitiee mealings
held throughout the course of the financial year is set olit at the end of this Corporate Govemance Staiement

Dopmuusfromtmcodo

The Company accepts that having only three directors on the Board, none of whom are independen, is not a long-term solulion
and is different lo the composition of the Board in previous years where there were two independent directors. However, the Group
has recently undergone significant change and for the majority of 2019 the focus has been on implementing the revised strategy
for which the cument directors, albeil not independent, are fully qualiied. The Board recognises the need for at least one
independent director and is- looking to find appropriafe candidates fo fulfil thal role al which time the composition ef the Board
cominittees will be reviewed.

Princlple 6 - Ensure that between them the directors have the necessary up-to-date experience, skills and capabliities.

The Chairman believes that, as a whole, the Board has a suilable mix of skills and compelencies in order to drive the Group's
sirategy and execute on the Strategic and Operational Review and is best placed 1o secure the future of the Group and create
fong-term value for afl stakeholders.

The Board consists of one Emwﬂvebtector and two Non-Executive Directors, none of whom are independent, and comprises
thres men as setout in the Directors' Report. The nature of the Group's business requires the Direciors to keep their skilfset up to
date which they do by altending industry events and keéping up 1o date with the iatest industry and regulatory publications. Periodic
updates to the Board on regulatory matters ere given by Company's professional advisers. The Directors' Report identifies the -
members of tha Board and describes the relevant e: , skills and qualities they bring. )
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The Company’s financial advider, NOMAD and !aw'ye}s are consulted on any significant Matters where the Board believes external
expettise is tequited. ‘

External adviséts attend Boatd ieetings as invited whe Chairman to report ahdlor discuss specific matiers relévant to the Group
and the matkets i which it bpetates. Additionally, MXC Advisory Limited provides the seces of lan Smith, Exectitive Diréctor,
and MXC Capital Markets LLP Is a retalned fnancial adviser principally foctsed on acquistdons. Both MXC Advisory Limited and
MXC Capital Markets LLP are part of the Same grolp as the sighlficani shateholder MXC Capital Limited.

The Company Sectelary, Rose Heibert oh behalf of Delgany Corpotate Setvices Limited, advises the Board on corporata
govemance and regufatory matiers, atiends the Board ieetings and reports directly to the Chaltnan on governahce mattérs: In
keeping with best practice a¢ sét out the-in thé QCA guidelines the Company has splil the roié of Chief Financial Officet and
Company Secretery.

Andy Parker and lan Smith are pHmany responsible for comaunicating With investors.
Departures front the Code

The Board is suppofted by a Chief Financial Officer who is not a member of the Board. The Chief Financial Officer, a qualffisd
accountant, works closely with the Board and T managing financial procedures and controls. The Board believes that, with the
support of the chief financial officer and the finahce team, its members have sufficlent financial experience to manage the Group’s
financial funclion.

Tha Board recognises (he need fot at ieast one independent direclor and the benefits it would bring to the board. The Company is
fooking to find appropriate candidates to fulfil that role and enhance the balance and skiliset of the Board. -

Principle 7 - Evaluate boatd performance based on clear and relevant objectives, seeking continuous improvement,

The Board regularly reviews the effectiveness of its petormance as a whole as well as that of its committees and individual
directors. Effectiveness is réviewed by looking 2l the Group's performance against budget as well as by the sugcess of the strategy
as sel by the Board. The Board maets tegulary [o review the Group’s performance as well as theit réspective rofes. .

Board appointments are made afler consultation with advisers in all cases and in some cases with major shareholders. The
NOMAD undertakes due diligence on all new polential Board candidates. Board members ail have appropriate notice penods so
that if a Board member indicates his/er intention to step down, there is sufficient time to appoint a replacement, whigther intethal
or extethal. All Directors are required lo fetire by Totation and seek re-election every three years.

Departures from the Codé

As part of the Strategic and operalional réview in 2018, thé need lo strengthen the Board was récagnised and changes were smfﬂy
implemented with dppoinimenls made to 2dd significant commercial, financial and operational experience o the Board overal.
The Board recognises that a more robust means of evalualing Bazrd performance heeds o be adopted going forwards. The
evaluation prodess is currently under review. In the past; a review of the Board has beeri undertaken by exfernal advisers. The
Board will consider using this method of raview in future to suppleriént ils own processes.
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Principle 8 - Pfoinole a corporate culturé that is based on ethical values and behaviours.

The Board firmiy beliéves that suslained success will best be achieved by adhering to the Group's corporate culture of treating al
our stakeholders fairly and with regpect.

Accordingly, in deafing with each of the Company's principal $laketioiders, the Board encourages our staff to operate in afi honest -
and respeciful manhat. The Group's Gulturé of honasty 2 respect is refiected in the continued support and dedication shovm by
emplyses lo deliver valué to the Group's cullonrs during what hia been a challenging year.

The Board also befisves that achieving a gomimion warenéss across all employees plays 8 major fole in Maintaining good
employee. relations. The Stralegic and Operatiensl Review of the entire budiness in 2018 highlighted areas that doncemed
employass and sleps yere taken o femady these concerns, such as more frdquéni Group-wide commudication by niavagement
and the Board. .

The Group is committed io promothg a culitre based on ethical values and betriviours acréss the business: Poliies ate i place

covering key mattsrs such as bribety, protecfion of intelectual property and Sansiive information, conflicts of interest,
whistieblowing and anli-siavery. These are strongly enforced ahd monttored. Central to Ihe Group’s culiure and values are

Colaboration, Respect, Excelience, Speed, Trust and Accountabiity, Known to the Company's employees as CRESTA.

information aboul how the Group's beliefs are appled o the business is set out on the websile:

hitps:/www.idegroup.com/about/our-people/.

Stalf poikcies

The Greup's employment policies are designed to ensure that they meet the statulory, social and market practices in the United
Kingdom. The: Group syslematically provides empioyees with information on matiers of concern to them, consuting them or their
representatives regulerly, so that their views can be taken into account when making decisions that are kkely to affect their interests.
Employse involvemeant in the Group is encouraged, as achieving a common awareness on the parf of ail employeas on the financial
and economic factors affecting the Group plays amaiorrdehmainlainmg its relationship with its sta.

The Group is committed fo employment policies, which follow best practice based on equal opportunities for all employees,
imespective of sex, race, colour, disability or marital stats. The Group gives full and fair consideration to applications for
employment for disabled persons, having regard o their particular aplitude and abilities. Appropriate arrangemenis are made for
the conlinved employment and training, career development and prometion of disabled persons employed by the Group. This
ncludes, where appiicable and possible, the relraining and retention of staff who become disabled during their employment.

Certifications

The Company is-proud lo have been awarded ISONEC 200001, 1ISO 9001, and IS0 27001. Details of these and other oertlﬁcahons
are included on the website: htips:/fwww.idegroup.com/about/certification/.

Principle 9 ~ Maintaih govérnancé structures and processes. that ara-fit for purpose and support good decision-making
by the board.

The principle governance Structures and processes. of the Company and its subsidiaries are the colective responsibiity of the
Board and il Commitiées, details Of which are set out earier in this report. At each Board mesting, the Board cansiders and
reviews the irading performance of the Group. The Board has & formal writfen schedule of matters reserved for its review and
approval, Thete include the approval of the annual budget, major capital expenditure, investment proposals, the interim and annual
tesults and 2 review of the overail syslem of inlernal control and risk management.

There are twa standing Board Commitieés - Audit and Remunéralion. Each of these committees acts within defined terms of
refesence. The roles of the Audit Cormities and the Remuneration Committee are set ut in thé Corporate Govemance séction
of the Company's website as follows: htips:/fwwiw.idegroup.com/abeutinveslors/corporate-géwerance/.

Departures from the Code

The Company recognises that its lack of independent direclors does nal comply with the siandards of hé QCA Comorate
Govemnance Code in terms of composition of the Board and its Committees. The Board tecognises the need for al Isast one
independent director and is looking to find appropriale candidates to fulfi that role @nd enhance its governance structures and
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Principle 10 = Commuinicate how the cornpmy is gévemad and s performing by maintaining a dislogue with sharehoiders
and other refevant stakeholders.

The Company reports formally to its shareholders and the market twice each year with the Telase of its interkn and full year
- results. The full year results are audifed'by a firm of external auditors.

This repart contains full detals of all the principal events of the' relevant period together with an assessment of current lradlng, and
future-prospects. The report is made-available-to the public via the Company’s website.

The Company maintains a reguiar dialogue with stakeholders including shareholders to enable interesied parbies to make informed
decisions about the: Group and its pérformance. The Boand Delieves that ransparancy in-its dealings offers a level oficomfort lo
stakeholders and an understanding that their views will be listened to. This has proved to be of dtmost intportance diring recent
ysars which have been a period of significant charige and challenge for the Group. The- Board inténds to continue its policy of
communication for the mitual benefit af the Company, its subsidiaries and their stakeholders.

The Board discloses the result 'of general meetings by way of anhtuncemeént and discloses the proxy voting numbers 10 those
attending the mestings. .In order to Fmprove trahsparency, the Board has committed to announcing proxy voling resuits from the
coming Annuai Genetal Meeting onwards. fn the event thal a significant porBion of volers have voted agains! a resolufion, the
Board intends 10 disclose the actions it wil take:to tnderstand the reasons behind the vote.

Attendance at Board and Commmittes Mestings

Board meetings are held on a regulaf basis with additional meetings or conference calls held when nequired during the yeer, for
example in relation to significant events. Each of the cuirent Directors has altended every meeting and call Since their appointment.

Remuneration Committee meetings are held at least annually, with further ad hoc meetings cafied as required, all Remuneration
Committee members attended 2019 and post year-end meelings.

Audit Committee meefings are hefd bi-annually 1o review interim and full year results, with further ad hoc meslings to agree audit

planning. All Audit Committe meetings in relation to the audit for the year ended 31 December 2019 were altended by ali Audit
Committee m&mbers. . .
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The direciors are responsible for praparing the Sirategic Report and the Diractors' Report and the financial statements in
accordance with appficable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors 1o prepare group and company financial statements for each financial year. The divectors are
required by the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange 1o prepare group financiat statements in accordance with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the European Union {"EU") and have elecled under company law to prepare
the company financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.

The financial statements are required by law and IFRS adopied by the EU to present fairl the fnancial position of the group and
the company and the financia! periormance of the group. The Companies Act 2006 provides in relation ko such financial statements
that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references 1o their achieving a
fair presentation.

. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements uniess they are satisfied matmeygveatmeandfalr
wewofmestateofaﬂmdlhegroupmmeoompmymdmeproﬁtorlnssomeroupforthalpenod

in preparing each of the group and company financial stalements, the directors are raquired to:
a.  select suitable accounting polues and then apply lhem_cmistanlly;

b. mateiudganentsandaomunmgesim that are reasonabie and prudent;

c. stale whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs adopled by the EU;

-d. prepare the knancial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriale to presume that the group and the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the group’s and the
company's ransactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the group and the company
and enable them fo ensure thal the financial staterents comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguaulingmeaaaeuofﬂmngpmdUBmmpmymdhencehmmgmmaUesbpsbrmemmﬁonanddetecliono!

fraud and other irrequiarities.
The directors sre responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the IDE
Group Hoidings pic website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparatlon and dissemination of financial stalements may differ from legislation
in othes jurisdictions.

fan Smith
Executive Director
On behalf of the Board

13 July 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF IDE GROUP HOLDINGS PLC

Opinion
We have audiled the financial statements of IDE Group Holdings pic (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for
the year ended 31 December 2013 which comprise the Consolidaled income Slatement, the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive income, Statements of Financial Position for the group and parent company, Stalements of Changes in Equity for
the group and parent company, Statements of Cash Flows for the group and parent company and notes to the financial stalements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and Inlernational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the
parent company financial stalemants, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.
In our oplnion A
o the financial statements give a true and fair view of the slate of the group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31
December 2019 and of the group's loss for the year then ended;
the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union,
« the parent company financial stalemenis have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopled by the
European Union and as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and
«  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with internafional Standards on Auditing {UK) (ISAs (UK} and applicable faw. Our
responsibilities under those slandards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of cur report. We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements thal are

* relevant fo our audit of the financiai slatomenls in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to SME listed entilies
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our apinion.

Conclusions relating to going i:oncem
We have nothing to réport in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs {UK) require
us o report ko you where:
e the direclors’ use of the going concern basis of aoonunhng in the preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate;.or
s the directors have not disclosed in the financial statemenis any |denbﬁed malerial uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt about the group's or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concem basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial slatements are authorised for issue.

Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters Group
* Incrementa borrowing rale apphed on initial aplication of IFRS 16
« Imparment of intangible assets
Parent Company.
+ Impament of intercompany receivables
Materiality Group

+ Owverall maleriality: 2367000(2018 £440,000).

» Perlormance matesiality: £275,000 (2018: £308,000).
Parent Company

o Overall materkasity: £351,000 {2018: £418,000}

» Perlormance materiality: £263,000 (2018: 292,000)

Scope ' Qur audit procedures covered 100% of revenue, 99.9% of net assels and 99.2% of loss before
fax.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matiers are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the group and
parent company financial stalements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of malerial misstaternent

IDE Group Holdings plc
Annual repori and fnancial statements
Year endad 31 December 2019

(whether or nol due to fraud) we identified, including those which:had the grealest effect on the overall audit sirategy, the allocation

of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagament team. These matters were addressad in the context of our
audit of the group and parent company financial stalements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide

a separale opinion on these matlers.

Incresnental borrowing rate applied on initial application of IFRS 16

Key audit  matter
description

How the matter was
addressed in the audit

Kay observations

‘IFRS 16 - Leases’ bacame eflective for annual reporting periods beginning on or afier 1 January 2019.
The application of the new siandard gives rise lo right of use (ROU") assets of £5.5 mifion and a
corresponding increase in laase kabifties of £5.5 milion, a3 shown innote 1.25. -

The group appiled the modified retiospective approach for the Iransition accounting. As the intorest rae
implicit in the leases could nol be neadily determined, the lessee’s incremental bormowing rate ("IBR") was
used lo measure the lease liabiities and ROU assets. The assessment of the IBR involves the exarcise

of a significant degree of judgement and may have a material impact on the amounts recognisad in the
statement of financial position.

OCur audit procedures included an evaiuation of the discount rale applied by management 1o cerlsin
property laases with an aggregale fisbility on-trangition of £2.5 million, and the resuling impact on the
tight of use assels and jease liability. The remaining lease lisbiliies recognisad are relatively short term,
mmmmmmmm«mmmummmmmmmd
material misstalermént.

Our work included:

. omwwommsemnwmmﬁuadahunhmmwbmﬂngmha
sample of property lsases, both short and longer term. They obtainad independent extemal
daia (o support a reference rale and credit spread lor each lease fesled, and considersd
whether any assel specific adjustment was required;

» - discussing the findings of our audior's expert with rnanagemem who subsequenily revisad
the rate used-in their calculations; and

e raviewing the relaled disclosure in note 1.25.

Basad on the audit work performed, we are satisfied that the incremental borrowing rales used are
reasonable.

Impairment of intangible assels

'l(q audit  matter
description

Mow the matter was -

addressed in the audit

As set out in note 14, the Group has intangible assets at 31 December 2019 of £21.1 million, including.

goodwill of £2.9 million. The group has two cash generating units {"CGUs"); Connect and Manage. The
goodwill all relales 1o the Connect CGU.

As aresult of the impairment review for the Connect CGU, management recognised an impakment charge
of £3.0 miflion. This was due 1o recent and continuing under-performance of the CGU.
mmmmmmmmmmmmcwmmwmdmm
impairmani. Therelore, an impairment review was also underiaken for this CGLY.

The Group's assessment of impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assels is a judgemental
process which requires estimating fulure cash flows based on management’s view of future business
prospects. The degree of subjeclivity and the size of the impairment provision meani that this was a
significant area of audit focus.

Our work included:

« crifically challenging the key underlying assumplions (revenus, profit margins and discount
rale) used in the forecasts that form the basis of the Group's impairment reviews, This included
consulting our inlernal valualions experis on the discount rales used, and benchmarking
growth rates lo information produced by independent indusiry research and data organisations;

«  assessing e accuracy of pasi lorecasts; this inthuded comparing actual trading performance
in 2019 1o the forecast made in 2018 for that year and undersianding the reasons for any
significant variances;

*  feviewing lhe parormance of each CGU lor the 2020 year to dale resulls agains! lorecasts;

»  performing addiional sensitivities, lo assess the robusiness of the model,

«  discussing owr findings with management, as a result of which an adjustmenl was made to the
discount rale and the growth rates in one of the CGUs;
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o performing a modelintegrity check, including reviewing the model for mathematical and clerical
accuracy; and

s revigwing the disclosures in the financial statements, including the disclosure of the events and
circumsiances that led 1o the recognition of the impairment charge and sansitivities.

Based on the audit procedures performed, we are salished that management has made reasonable

Key observations agsumptions in their consideration of the impairment charge and the valuation of intangible assets at the
year end.
Iimpairment of intercompany receivables

Key audit  matter
description

How the matter was
addressed in the audit

. Key observations

As disciosed in nole 16 the parenl company has group recelvables {before impairment) of £66.0 million
at 31 December 20189, Under IFRS $ - Financial Instrunents, management must calculale an expected -
credit loss provision in respect of this balance. There Is significant measurement uncertainty involved in
assessing the probabitiies lo be assigned to the possible outcomes in this calculation. For this reason the
valualion of group receivables was significant to our audit of the parent company financial stalements.
Management assessad Ihe raquired kevel of provision under IFRS 9 - Finantial Instruments as £49.0m.

We obiained management’s calculation of the expected credil koss ("ECL) and the underlying calculations
prepared to support Ihe carrying value of the balances and performed work a5 folfows:

e assessad the reasonableness of the scenarics considered by management and the
probabilities assigned lo each;
moderedmeapmoprmmdlheﬁnamdoumformhmm
recalculated the computation of the ECL;
oonsnderedﬂmmpacloﬂhequsnonsmmempundmpannemmaga
" discussed ow findings with management, following which an adjustment was made (o the
current and prior period's impairment provisions; and

+  remewed he amdasures of the prior perd adusiment arising from the revision of the ECL.
As a result of our work we concurred with management's revised calculated ECL. We also considered the

disclosure of the prior period adiusiment to be appropriale. -

Our application of materiality

When establishing our overall augit sirategy, we set certain thresholds which help us to delermine the nature, timing and extent of
our audil procedures. Whan avaluating whether the effects of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as
a whole, could reasonably influence the economic decisions of the usérs we take into account the qualitative nature and the size

of the misstatements. Based on our professional judgement, we delermined maleialily as foflows:

Group _ Parent company
Overall materiatity £367,000 (2018: £440,000). £351,000 {2018: £418,000)
Basis for determining overall 1.3% of revenue 3.3% of net assets. The percentage apphed Io
materiality the benchmark has been resiricted for the

ppose of calculating an  appropriale
‘componen| materiality,

Rationale for benchmark applied  Revenue is considered the most appropriate  Net assels are considered © be Ihe

mesasure used to assess the performance of approprisle measure as the company's .

the group. adlivity s to hold invesiments in group
companies.
Perlormance materiality £275,000 (2018: £308,000) £263,000 {2018: £292,000)
Basis for determining  75% of overall materiatity 75% of overall materiality

performance materiality
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Reporting of misslatements fo  Misstatements in excess of £18,300 and Misstalements in excess of £17,500 and

the Audit Commities rmissiaismenis below Lhat threshold that, in our  misstatements below that threshold thal, in
view, waranted repormg on qualitalive our view, warranied reporting on qualitative
grounds. rounds,

An overview of the scope of our audit

The group consists of the parent company, two trading companies; IDE Group Manage Limited and IDE Group Connect Limited;
and 13 other dormant or nan trading entities. The parent company and the two irading companies are based in the UK.

The coverage achieved by our audit procedures was:

Number of

: Revenue Net assets Loss before tax
Full scope audit 3 100.0% 299.9% 99.9%
Analytical procedures 13 - 0.1% 08%
at group level .
Totsl 16 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The ather information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the ather information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly staled in our reporl, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibiity is to read the other information &nd, in doing $0, consider
whether the other information is malerially inconsisient with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such malerial inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we
are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the
other informabion. 1f, based on the work we have performed, we conclude thal there is a malerial misstatement of this other
information, we are required fo report that fact,

We have nothing ko report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+  the information given in the Strategic Report and the Direclors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
stalements are prepared is consisient with the financial statements; and
« the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal regquirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment oblained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified malerial misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Direclors’ Report.

" We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to whichrlhe Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to

you i, in our opinion:
» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or refurns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or
« the parent company financial stalements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
¢ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
= we have nol received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
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Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities stalement saf out on page 26, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being salisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such intemal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from malerial misstatement,
whether due to fraud or eror.

In preparing the financial stalements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the parent company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, malters related to going concem and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the direclors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease aperations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibHities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are o cbiain reasonable assurance about whether the Rnancial slatements as a whole are free from malerial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and fo issue an auditor's report that inciudes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance bul is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatemants can arise from fraud or error and are considered malerial if, individually or in the
aogregate, they could reasonably be expected 1o influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
slatements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's
websile at: hitp;//www.frc.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This descripbion forms part of our auditor's report.

Usa of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audil work has been underiaken o that we might stale to the company's members those mallers we are required o
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as & body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.

2:&4-\ \_\-&kbé\“‘ \/&

GEOFF WIGHTWICK (Senior Stalutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP, Statutory Audilor
Chartered Accountants

Portland )

25 High Street

Crawley

West Sussex

RH10 1BG

Date: 13 July 2020

31



(Page 34 of 79)

IDE Group Holdings pic
Annual report and finncial sidisMadts
Yeat-ended 31 December 2019
Consolidated Income Statement
for the yéarended 31 December 2018
Year snded Year ended
31 Decomiber 31 DRcember
Note : 019 08
£000 £000
‘Contimsing operations
onuly 4 28,181 0137
Cost of siles | 2ite : (34,521)
Groes profk ' ) 6,616
Administrative expenses excluding impairment 345 (t2,450) 18,522}
Impaitiriant lose o tradg fecaivableg 5 i {30) {725)
Impairment charge on goodwil and intangibles 1" : sho0y (17.528)
Toal admivisvalmrexpanses m.m} (36,775)
Adjusied EBITDA* : ) 1143 (3.886)
Exceplona Hems r (358 (2.368)
Deprecidtion : 13 {(3.2401) (2,848)
Amorfisakioh 1 {3289} (3.290)
inipairitient charge on goodwill and intangibles 14 {3,008 (17,528)
Loss on disposal of fhed assets - (441)
Chérges for share-based paymanis ‘ . 28 . (86} 202
Operating loss (9,081) {30,159)
Fihance costs ' 9 osn (389)
Loss on.ordinary aciiviles before (axation (10,888) ' {30,548)
Wcometax - : 1 2,414 1,089
Loss for the year from cohtinuing opsrations (.41 {29459)
Discontinued operations '
LLoss aer tax for the year from discontinued operafians 8 Toa0 an) P a5
Loss ko 1he year attribulable o owners of the parent ‘ {8,658) {32,624)
company A
From contihuing -opcruions
Basic & diluted foss per share 12 {212 (11.97)p
From discontibied operations _
Basic and diked koss per share 12 g (0.04)p {1.20)p

Total basic and divted loss per share 1 (2.18)p {13.20)

* Adjusied EBITDA is definad as samings belore inleras!, tzx, defiraciation; simolfisation, impatrment chame, exceptional ilems, Iusomﬁpoﬂlofﬁnﬂm
shd sham-based peyinents

The nolis on pages 40 to 77 are an integral part of these financial siatements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year énded 31 December 2019
Yéar dnded Yéat énded
31 Decamber 31 Decermber
o189 2018
£000 £000
Loss Tor he.year afifbirtable fohe cvimers of e, parenl company (8.85) (32624)
ftems ihet are or may be reclassiffied subsequently o the income
staferiant _ :
Foreign exchange translation differences - 123)
Totaf other compreensive (lossY income | . 23
Total comprehensive losé for the year atiribulable to the owners of . (8,636) (32647)
tha-parant company" .
. —— S——

The notes on pages 40'to 77 are an integral part of fiese financial staféménts.
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Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2019
Group Company
Nolg (Restaled)
2019 2018 21 018
£000 £000 £000 £000
Non-current assals :
Property, plant and equipment 13 9,708 9,8% ‘ - -
Intangible assets 14 21,106 27,395 . -
Invesiments - 15 - . 1817 7817
Deferred tax asset 1 1529 - . .
Trade and olher receivables ‘ 16 - - 13,940 26.?82q
32,623 arzn - 26,817 34650
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 16 62t 6.693 » 45
Cash and cash equivalents ” [ 1] - 103 5488
_ 3,300 8,693 132 5534
Total assets 40,933 45124 26,949 40,193
Current liabdlities : .
Trade and other payables 18 7,562 . 1570 2078 1651
Contract liabilities ‘ 19 1926 2962 . -
Borrowings 22 1,786 7,800 - 4,581
Provisions 21 . 92 1,514 50 50
11,446 19,946 2185 6,382
Non-currant labilities
‘Conlract liabiliies 19 (] 13 . .
Borowings . 22 14,313 494 12474 -
Convertible loan notes 23 1,803 1,654 1,803 1,654
Provisions 2 230 - 1,705 . .
Dehqd fax Kabilities 1" 3212 3899 ) - .
19,644 7,765 wam © 1854
Total liabilities 34,000 am 16,402 8,038
Net assels 9,343 18413 10,547 ‘ 32,157
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent :
Share capital 27 10,020 10,020 10,020 10,020
Share premium ‘ 35439 35439 540 35429
Equity reserve oy 967 987 967
Retained eamings {38,43)) {27,863) (35,879} (14,268)
Foreign currency iranslation reserve . . (150) {150) . S
Total equity 9,843 18413 10,547 2157

The notes on pages 40 lo 77 ate an integral part of these financial stalements. The Company made a loss of £21.7 million in the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018 Restaled: £6.3 million). These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors
on 13 July 2020 and were signed on ils behalf by:

{an Smith
Executive Direclor
ey - Company registered number: SC368538
' ' 34
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Statements of Changes in Equity
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Group Share Stiare: Equify Retainad  Foreign currency Tolal
: Capital (a} Premium (b) resefve(¢)  Eafings {d) tfinslation (rt}um Squity
U

Balance it 1 Jenuary 2018 5018 3543 . 4963 {tn) dsdes
Lass for the Mnariil yag . . . (32626) . 132624)
Ottier comprabensive income{axpanse] .
Movameit in foreign cumency transiafion - - - a 23 o)
Tolal coinprahensive Mcoinalexpmits) B - NRE (32624} 23 T(32,647)
Transactions with owners recorded.
directly in equity:
‘Share issues 8,002 . . . ) 5,002
Share based pyiens - - - {202) - (202)
Coftvartidis Ban nolas, - ) 557 A ) 967
Balarics at 31 Decembar 2018 10020 35439 967 (27,863} (130) 18413
Loss fr the finenclal year and thial - . {8.558) - {8,656}
Transactions with owners recorded
ioctly in aquily: :

bassd psyments . - . 8% - 86

Balance at 31 December 2013 10,020 3542 967 (38,43) sty 8,843
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Yeai shded 31 Dacember 2019

Statements of Changes in Equity (continved)
fo iRe yeor md«hf Decomber 2019 (confinued)

Company Nove Share Share  Equilty reserve Retaingd Towl
{restalnd) resiited)
£000 _ £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2018 : 5018 548 - 16,541 56,998
Translion fo IFRS 9 on T Jariuary 2018 (Restated] 3 - . - Q431§ {24.312)
. Tolsl compraheniive foss for ihé year , _
Loss3 for the-year (restaled) z - - - (8,296) (6.206)
Trahsactons with owhers fecomdéd dirclly in :

e 502 . . - 5,002
-Ghive Bised piyments : - - (202) {202)
Converible loan notes - - 987 % 867
Bilance at 31 December 2018 (Restated) 10,020 354% " {14,269) 32157
rwwmmhshrmm: ) .

Loss forthe year ) : - - - (21,696) (21,696)

Transaciions with owners recarded.

directly in sqully: .

Shafe base? plyments ‘ : - & ]

Balante & 31 Decomber 2019 . 10020 3549 Wi sam) 10,547
——

{a)" Share capilal represents the nominal value of equity shares

(b) Shareprmiumtepfesenhtheeucessmmndvduedmefarvduedwmrauonremedhmr shares; naldexpenses
of the share issue;

{c) The equity regerve consists of lhe:equly compone of convértible loah notes thal were issued as-part of the lundra;smg in August
2018 less the equily component of inslruments converted or setlled.

Thelauvalueoflheequlyeompmenlofcmverhblebmndesissuednslheresdua! vdueaﬂardedmﬁonoflhelanaknoflhe
debt component of the instrument from the face vadue of the loan note.
{d) Retained earrings represents relained profils and accumwlated losses

(e} On consolittation, thebalamesrnetsoﬂheGroupsWwbsn&mesamkmdﬂedmtosteﬂmatheratésdexchmnﬂmgal
thé batance shéet dale, Emhamenansorlossesmmkunhmdmﬂdlhesemgnsuhsdmmremmdnme
foreign currency translalion reserve.

T
|
|
\
i
\
\
|
Coplally)  Promgem o) o) Eamings ) ity
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
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Statements of Cash Flows
for thé yeir anded 31 Decembar 2019
Group
Note: -
2019 2018
) £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax fot the yéar:
Coritinuing operalins’ {102889) (30.548)
Discontinved operations. (218) 13.292)
Tota) tosé before tax ™,104) %.840)
Dejpreciation 13 324 3033
Amorfisation 14 EY. ] s.ﬁ
impairment charge 3,000 A3
Net fifidnce expenses 9 1,027 300
Share based payments 28 & (202)
Loss on disposal of fixed assels ) 425
‘Lossi{profit) on disposal of subsidiary - (680)
3% {5,820}
Decrease in trade and olher receivables 1.2M 6,284
Decrease in inviéntory ‘ . 365
Decrease in trade and oiher payables and contract IFabilities {1,355) {11,320}
(Decrease)fincrease in provisions: (208) 1,485
Net cash generated from/{used in) operating activities & M08
Cash fiows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary and PACT business, nel of overdralt repaid - isn
Acquisition of praperty, plant and equibment 13 1T (@72)
Realisation/ {acquisition) of non-curren! financial assels . 89
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets a
Net cash (used in)igenerated from investing activities {1 3.451
Cash flows from Rnancing activities .
Interest paid (451) {320)
Share issue, net of expenses . 3,752
New loans and bomowings, net of expenses 1,520 3,800
Repayment of loans and bomrowings {4.750) {2,750)
 Repayment of leasa liabiliies {2,605) {335)
Net cash geherated froi financing activities ins 4,147
Net increasef{decrease) in cash and cash squivaients 3534 {1.407)
Cash and cash equivalents at § January (2,908) (1,498)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Oecember 679 {2,905)
Cash and cash equivalents :ompme
Cash at bahk 17 679 -
Overdrafts . (2905
679 {2.905)

7
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Statements of Cash Flows (continied)
for thé year énded 31 Dicember 2019

Restateiment of 2018 Group cath flow statement:
The comparalive figures for ihe Group cash Hiow staisment havee besjr restatad maﬂmmmswmwwmm

.......

mm witf fie coffespBnding.removal of the tax charge of £1,216k from adjiisiments i arriving at cash from operaling activities:

g

£000

Cash flows from opesaling activies as orighial stated - - (32,42¢)
aat 1216}
Total loss before tax _ , (33840)
3
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for the year ended 31 Detenibir 3019 ‘
Company '
Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year
Adjusimenis for.
‘Net financial expenses:
Impairment of intercompany loans
Share based payments
Otfier

(Increase)idecrease if trade and Gther receivables
Increase/{decrease]} in frade and dther payables:
Decreasa in provisions. . 21

Net cash from operatihg activities

‘Cash flows from investing activities
Amounts {agvanced tojrepaid by subsidiaries

Net cash generated from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid
Share issue, nef of expenses

New loans and borrowings, net of expensés 2 -

Repayment of ivans and borrowings - 2

Net cash generatéd from financing activities

Net dectease in cash and cash équivilénts:
Car»_h and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivaients at 31 December 7 17

\O& Group Holdings pic
Annual report and findnGial Slalemans
Yaar anded 31 Qecember 2019
2018 am8
(21808} {6.206)
1418 78
19408 5245
]} {202)
- .28
(184) (647}
{1 1,381
T (808)
- (207)
o (606}
(11,734) 1123
(1734 1,123
(44) (209)
- 3752
11,520 3,800
(4,750) {2,750)
6126 459
(5,3&5) -5.110
5458 378
03 5:488
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Acoount:ng policies

(DE Group Holdings plc {"IDE Group®) is a company incorporated in Seolland. domiciled in the United Kingdom and limiled by
€hares which are publicly fraged on AM, fhe marke of that name operafed by the London Stock Exchange. The registered office
is 24 Dublih Strest, Edinburgh EH1 3PP and the prineipal place of busiess s ih the Uniled Kingdom.

The princiial activity of the Group is the provision of network, ciud and IT managed services.

The princlpal accorhling policies, which have been atplied congistenty i the preparation of thesq consolidated financiat

Stgtements throughout e year and all by subsidisry companies are set out beiow. These ate the firs! full year resuits whic ans

présented by IDE Group following the adoption of IFRS 18. Further detail of the implementation of this new standard can bé found
in note 1.25.

1.1 Basis of preparstion

The consolidatad financial stateménts of IDE Group have been prepared on the going concem basis and in accordance with EU
adopled Intetnational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), IFRS Interpretations Commitiee (IFRS IC) and the Companies Act
2008 appiicable lo companies reporting under IFRS. The:consolidaled financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. The Company has slecled to take theenempuon under saction 408 of the Companies Agt 2006 1o not
present the parent Company's income Statement. .

The preparation of financial staferments in conformity with IFRS réquires the use of cerain cfilical accounting estimates. | also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areds ihvbiving a
higher degree of judgemant or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant lo the consofidated financial
statements are disciosed in note. 1.26 in the accounting pokicies.

Going concem
The Direclors have laken advantage of the Govemment's Job Retention Scheme to furlough some staff members during the

COVID-19 lockdown period, as welk as senior staff taking a short-term 20% salary reduction, and alse delermenl of PAYE and VAT
kabililies. There has been increased demand for iifecycle services which necessitated an increase in shifts and production, and
this has offset minor reductions in user support desk activifies.

The Directors have prepared detailed cash flow projections; these projections, considering reasonably possible changes in trading -
performance and the timing of key siralegic events, including COVID-18, show the Group expects fo operate-within the level and
conditions of available funding. The directors note, however, thal although the cash flow projections show that the group expecls
fo have sufficient cash resources throughout the forecast period, the levels of cash fkictuate and at times in the forecast period are
telatively low. The continuing Cavid-19 pandemic creales added uncertainties for the Group. Any reasonably possible deviabion
from the forecast cash inflows could result in the Group requiring additiona! funding.

The directors have discussed the fulure cashflows with two of the Group’s major shareholders who are represented on the Board
and, furthermore, note the continyed support of these shareholders, as demonstrated by the refinancing during the year. In
reaching their conclusion on the going concem assumption, the-direclors note and rely on the letter of support provided by MXC
Capital Limited, in which they undertake to continue to provide such financial support neaded for continued opérations for a period
not lass than one year from the date of approval of these financial staiements. The direclors having made the nécessary inquiries,
have salisfied themselves of MXC Capital's ability to provide such finance if necessary. Afiér making enquiriés and having regard
fo the FRC's Guidance to Companies on COVID-19 issued in March 2020, the Direclors have a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequale resources to confinue in operationa! existence for the foreseeable fulure. Accordingly, ttié Group continues
fo adopt the going concem basis in preparing its consolidated financial siateménts.in the year énded 31 December 2019, the
Group fully repaid its banking faciliies with National Westminster Bank pic which consisted of a £4.75 million Revolving Credit
Facility (the total facility was £7.5 milfion; £2.75 miilion was repaid in October 2018 with the proceeds of the disposal of 365 ITMS
Limited) and a £3.5 million overdralf facikty. The facilities were repaid with the proceéds of the issue of 6-year secured loan notes
fo certain of the Company's sharehiolders. Further detail can be found in note 22.

Based on the above thé Direclors have a reasonable expéctation that tha Group has adequate resources lo continue in operational
exislence for the koreseeable fulure.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
1 Accounting policiés (conlinued)
1.2 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all enlities {including struclured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls 2n entity when
the Group is exposad o, or has rights to, variable ratumns from its involvement with the enlity and has the abilty fo affect those
relums fhrough its power over fhe.énlity. Subsidiariés are hully consolidated from the dale on which conlrol is fransferred o the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the:date that control ceases.

The Group appliés the acquisition method fo account for business combinations. The.consideration ransferred for the acgunsmon
of a subsidiary is the fotal of the fair values of the assels transfeirred, the liabilities incurred fo the formet dwners of the acquitee
and the equily interesls issued by the Group. The considerafion iransferred includes the fair vaiue of any assel or iability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement. ldentifiable: assets acquired and liabilities and contingent kiabilities assimed in a
business combination are measured initially al their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controing
inigrest im the acquiree on an acquisitionvby-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-conirolling interest's proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. '

Imercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transacfions belween Group companies are eliminated on
congokdafiori. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency With policies
adopted by the Group.

1.3 Investments

Invetments in subsidiaries are heid at cost less accumulated impairment losses. A formal assessment of the recaverabiity of the
investment values is undertaken on an annual basis by the Directors. Where indicators of impairment identified, fived asset
investments are impaired accorgingly. - _

14 Intangible asséts -

Goodwill
Goodwill is initiay measured as the excess of the aggregale of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any non-

controlling inlerest over the fair value of the nef identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower
than the fair value of the riet assets of the subsidiary acquured the difference is recognised in the income siatement as a bargain
purchase.

Fonawing initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwirll acquired in a business combination is allocaled 1o a cash generating unit

Goodwill impairment reviews are underiaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a polentiat
impairment. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Other intangible assets arising from business combinations

Intangible assefs (haf meet the criteria to be saparalely racognised as part of a business combination are carried at cost (which is
equal to their fair value at the date of acquisiion) less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. An intangible asset
acquired as part of a business combination Is recognised outside of goodwil if the asset is separable or arises froni contractual or
other legal rights and its fair value can be measired refiably. Inlangible assels acqulfed in this manner include irademarks and
customer contracts. They are amortised over their estimaled useful lives on a straight-ine basis as follows:

. Guslamer confracts and related relationships 5= 13 years
¢ Trademarks 5 years.

Impairment and amortisation charges are _Incruded within he administrative expenses line in the income statement.
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1 Accounting policies (confinued)

Technology development )
Expenditure ofi internally developéd téchnology is capitalised i it 6an be demonstrated that.

#it i§ lechnically feasible to davelop the techiiology for it fo bé used & sold
- adoquale résourses are avatabld lp Gamplale the development
- there is an inténtior to completé and foi the Group 10 usé or s&ll the technelogy
- use of ka6 of the asset Wil ferierate lrtuig-ecbnomic benefits, arid
- expenditure on the projett oan bé-measyred reliably.

Capilaliséd development cosls are arhortised dver the pefiods the Group expects lo bepefit flom using or sefing the, assels
deveioped. Thé amartisation amsa is included withiti the administrative expenses ling in the income statemént. Development

expendfiure hol satisfyfng the above critefiz and expenditurg on the, reséarch phase of internal projacis. arg recognised i the
consolRiated ihagme statement ag incurred.

1.5 Property, plant and squipment

_ Property, plant and equipment are slated at cost less accumulgiéd depreciafion and any impairmient in valug. The costincludes
the original price of the asset and the cost attributabile to bringing the asset to its current working condition for'its intevidiad use,

Wnr software includes sofiware purchased from third party vendors used in conjunction with relatad Hacdware, rather than a
stand-alone basi§, and i$ therefofe treated as tangible.

Capreciation, down to residual value, is calculatad on a straight-line basis over the eslimated useful life. of the asset, which is
reviewed on an annual basis, as Tollows:

‘s Leasehold properly : Over remaiting leaseterm
o Computer software J-5years

¢ Network infrastructure - 10 years

+  Equipment, fixtures arid fitlings 3- 3 years

An item of property, plant and equipiment is de-mcognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are axpected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecagnition of the assel (calculated as the difference -
between the nel disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year the item
is derrecognised.

Right-of-use assots

A righl-of-use asse! js recagnised at the commencement dale of a leass. The righl-of-use asset is measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease Kability, adjusted foi, as applicable, any lease payments made at or befdre the
commencement date nel of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where induded in te cest
of inventories, an estimate of cosfs expected to be incurred for dismantiing and removing the underlying assel, and restoring the
site or agset.

Right-of-use assels are depreciaied on a straight-ine basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of
the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expecis to obiain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the fease term,

the depreciation is over ils estimiated useful life, Right-of use assets are subject io impairment or- ad;usted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities..

Thie Gréup has slected not to recognise a right-of-use assel and corfesponding lease liability for short-ierm leases with terms of
12 months of less and leases of low-value assels. Lease payments on these dsséts are expensed lo profit or loss as incurred.
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1 Accounting policies (confinued}
1.6 Impairment of asseis (continued)

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if svenls or changes in
circumstances indicate. the camrying vatue may Se impaired. As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocaled to each
of the cash generaling units expecled to benefil from the busitiess combinalion's synergies. Impairment is delermined by
assessing the recoverable amount of each of the cash generating unit lo which the goodwill relales. When the.recoverable amount
¢f thé cash generating unif is less than the carrying amount, including 4oodwil, &n impairmeént loss is recognised.

Ofher infangible assels and properly, plant and equipment are subject lo amorisafion and depreciafion and arereviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the camying values may not be recoverable. If any such
indication exists and where the carrying value excesds the estimated recoverable amount, the assels or cash generating unils are
writterr down to their recoverable amount,

The recoverable amount of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment is the greater of the fair value iess costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimaled fulure cash flows are discounied to their present values using a pre-tax
discount rale that reflects current market assessments of the time vakie of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset
that does not ganerate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is delermined by the cash generaling unit fo
which the asset belongs. Fair value less costs to sell is, where known, based on aclual sales price net of costs incurred in
completing the disposal.

Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, thal were impaired in prewous penods are reviewed annually to assess whether the
impairment ig stil relevanl

1.7 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new sfiares or options are shown in
equity as a deductiort from proceeds.

1.8 Leases

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The |dase Kability is initially recognised at the present value
of the lease payments {o be made over the lerm of the lease, discounted using the inlerest rate impiicit in the lease or, if thal rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable, vafiable lease paymenls that depend on an index or a rate, amounts éxpected to be paid under residual
value guaraniees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any
anticipaled termination penallies. The variable lease payments that do riot depend on an index or-a rate are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured if there
is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rale used; rasiduat guarantee; lease
term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penaliies. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the
corresponding right-of use asset, or bo profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.

The following accounting policies were applied lo leases in the year ended 31 December 2018:

Leases where the lessor retains substantially afl the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operaling leases.

Cperaling lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a siraight-ine basis over the lease term. |

Where the Group has substantiaiy alt the risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset, the asset is capitalised as property,
plant and equipment and depreciated over the shorterof its useful economic life and the lease term. The resulting lease obligations
are included in borrowings, nét of finance charges. Interest cosls on finance leases are charged to the income slatement 10
produce a constant periodic rate of change on the remaining balance of the kgbility for each period.
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1 Accouhtiiig pélicles (continued)

1.9 Provisions

Provisions are recognisad when the Company has a presant obfigation (legal of construcive) as a result of 2 past event where it
is probabie thal an outflow of resources-smbeodying economic banefits will be required to setlle the obligafor'and a relfiable estimate
£an be rhatlé &f thé amount of the obligation. If the effact of the Bme valie of money fs material, provisions are detaimihed by
distounting the expected fulure cash flows at a risk-free rate that reﬂecls curient market assessments of the fime vale of moriey

and, where appropriale, the risks spaclﬁclomelabmy
1.10 Currerit and defarred income tax

Current ta 3668 and lidbiliies are measured al the amoun! expecled to be recovered from or paki o thi taxation authorities,
based on iax tales and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by the belance sheet date.

Deferrad nsome lax is provided for on all temporary differences sl the balance sheel date betweén the tax bases of assals and
liatiities aid théir carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, with the following exceptions:

- o where the lemporary difference arises from the inifial recognition of goodwilt or an asset or fiabilify in a ransaction fhat
is niol 3 business combination that at the time of the lransaction neither affects accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

¢ inrespect of taxable tempdvary differencés assotiated with invesiments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it i$ probable that fhé temporary differénces will riot reverse in tha
foreseeable fuiure; and

s  deferred income tax assels are recognised only fo the extent that it is.probable thal taxable profits will be available
against which deductible tamporaly diffefences catried forward iax credils or fax I658@s can b2 ulifi§ed. '

1.11 Trade and other recsivables

Trade receivables, which principally represent amounts due from customers, are recognised at amortisad cost as they meet the IFRS
9 classification test of being held to collect, and the cash flow characterisics represent solely payments of plincipal and interest.

TheGhuphasappliedt?teSumpluiedApmadnapptyhgaprommmakixbasedonnumberofdayspastdmbmeawehfehne
expededcredltbsmandmm\gintoacoomtwsbmmmdfﬂmmmuriskpmm“amg;mtammmwmg
condilions.

Trademeivablesarewrittmoﬁmnmisnoreasonableemectbtionofreeovefy,suchasadebtorfailingbengageina
repayment pian with the company. The Group's trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing.

1.12 Cash and cash squivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the batance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term daposits with an dfiginal
mafurity of three months or less.

For the purposes of the consolidated cash fiow statement,-cash and cash equivalénts cofisist 6f cash and cash eguivalents as
defined above, net of oulstanding bank overdrafts.

1.13 Forsign currencies

Thie presentational currency of the Group is Pound Sterling (E) and thé Group conducts the majority of its businass in Stering.
Transactions in foreign currencias are initially recorded in the presentational cuimency by applying the rate of exchange ruling at
the date of the transaclion. Monetary assets and liabifities denomifiated in foreign currencies are relranslated at the presentational
currency rate of exchangs ruling al the balance sheet dale. AH differences are laken lo the income stalemenl.

Foreign exchange transiation differences atising from the iranslation of entities repmmg in foreign currericies. are classified as
other comprehensive income
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i Accounting policies {continved)
1.14 Accrual for employes benefits, including holiday pay

Provision is made for employeé benefits, including hofiday pay, to the extenl of the iabflity as If all employees of the Group had left
thie business at ité reporting date.

1.15 Finaiicial asgets and liabllities

The Group's financial assets. and liabilities mainly comprise cash, borrowings, trade and other receivables and rade and other
payables. These are actouniéd for in acchriance with the relevant acoounting policy hote.

Trade and olter payables afe notinlerest biaring and are staled al theif amottised cost.

1,46 Gonvertible loan notes

The composent pans of convertible loans issued by the Cofnbahy are classified separately as financial liabiliies and equily in
atcordance with the substance of e contraciuat arrangements and the defindiions of a financial kability and an equity instrumant.
At the dale of issue, the fair value of thé liability pottion of convertible loan notes Is determihed Using a market interest rate for a
oamparable ioan noie with nio conversion opfion. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis using the
effaclive interest method until the loan notes are redeemed or converted either during or at the end of the lerm of the convertible
loan notes. The remainder of the carrying amount of the loan notes is allocated to the conversion option and shown within equity,
and is nol subsequently remeaswied. When the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturily date of the convertible note,
the balance recognised in equlty will be transferred to retalned eamings. No gain or loss Is recognised in the income statement
upon conversion of expiration of the convetsion aptions.

1.17 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Al loans and bofrowings are initiafly recognised at fair value less directly affributable Iransaction costs. Afier inilial recognition,
interest-beating loahs and bomowings are subsequentty measured at amortised cost using the affective interest method. Gaing
and losses atising on the repurchase, seltiement of olherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised in the finance cost line in
the income statement.

1.18 Finance costs

Loans are camied at fair value on inftial recognition, net of unamortised issue costs of debt. These cosls are amorlised over the
foan term.

All other botrowing costs are recognised in the income stalement on an accruals basis, using the effeciive rate method.

1.19 Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or feceivabie for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of Valued Added Tax, returns, rebates and discounis and afier the

" elimination of sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will low 1o the entity and when specific criteria have been mel for éach of the Group's acliviliés as describad below.

Recurring revenue
The largest portion of the Group's revenues relates to a fumber of network, doud and IT managed services, which the Group

offers 1o its customers. All of the revenue in this calegofy is conlracled and includes a full range of support, maintenance,
subscription and service agreements. Revenue for these types of services is recognised as the services are provided on the basis
that the customer simullaneously receives and consumes the benefils providéd by the Group's performanoe of the services over
ihe contract term. In terms of performance obtigations, the customer can benefit from each service on its dwn and the Group's
promise to bransfer ihe service o the customet is separately identifiable from other promises in the conlract. The transaction price
for each service is allocated lo each performance obligation. The costs incurred for these revenue streams typicaily match the
revenue patiem. Acontract liability is recognised when billing occurs ahead of revenue recognition. A contract asset is recognised
when the revenue recognition criteria were mel but in accordance with the underlying contract, ihé sales invoice has not been
issued yet.
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1 Accouhting policies {bonﬂ?luéd]

1.19 Revenus (confinued}

Project revehue . N o

These project senvioes inciude mainly installation and consultancy services. Performance obligations are met once the hours of
days have beeh worked. Revenue is therefore fetognised overtime based,en the Rdurs of days worked at the agreed prcé per
hour or day. The costs ihcurred for his tevénue stream genérally maich the: revenue péftem, a5 a digriificant portion of consultancy

cosls kelate to staff eosts which are fecofnised 4s incurred. Consullancy services,are générally provided on A tim# and miterig)
basis.

1.20 Exceptional items

it is the poticy of the Group to idenlify Ceriain costs, which are material either bacause of their size or-nature, saparataly on the
face of the Incorme Statement i order that he underlying pmﬁtab-my of the business can bé clearly understood. These cosls-are
identified as Exosptionsl costs, and comprise;

a) Prolessional fees incurred in sourcing and completing acquisitions and disposals:inciuding Iegd expeanses

b) Professional fees incaited in- restructuring and refinahcing adquisitions

c) Inlegration costs which are incurred by the Group when integraling one trading business mo anothe; including
rebranding of acquited businesses

d) . Redundancy costs, including amployment refaled costs of staff made fedundant up to the date of their leaving as a
consequence of integration -

e} Property costs such as Iease lermination penaties and vacant property provisions and thlrd-partyadww lees

1.21 Cost of Sales

Cost of sales incide costs which are directly atirbutable 10 the supply of goods and services, including salary costs of all
employees whose-roles are directly related to the provision of services.

1.22 Operating profit or loss

The operaling profit or loss is identified in the income stalement and represents the profit o loss on continuing activities before
finance income, finance costs and laxation.

1.23 Segmental reporting
Thé Chief Cperating Decision Maker has been identified as the Executive Board. The Chief Operaling Decision Maker reviews

the Group's intarnal reporting in ordar to assess performance and allocale resources. For management reporting purposes and
operationally, the continying operations of the Group consist of two operating segments: IDE Group Manage and IDE Group

+ Connect IDE Group Manage consists of IT Managed services and IDE Group Connect consists of conneciivity, cloud and

colotation Services. The Board assess the performance of the operating segments based on profilability and EBITDA. An analysis
of revenue ahd gross profit of both segments is described under their respective headings in the-financial review.

Information provided o the Executive Board is mieasured in a manner consislent with that in the Financial Statements.
1.24 Discontinued operations

Cash fiows and operations.that relate o a major component of the. business that has been disposed of, of is classified as held for
sale or distribution are shown separalely from continuing operations.

1.25 Application of new IFRSs and interpretations
internationa! Financial Regorting Standard (IFRS) 16 “Leases”

The Group implementad IFRS 16 Leases as of 1 January 2019, adopling the modified refraspective approach. The naw standard

is affective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 15 removes the operating and finance lease classification for

lessees in AS 17 Laases and replaces them with the concept of right-of-use assets and associated financial liabilies. This change
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1 Atcounting policies (continued)
1.25 Applicition of new IFRSs and interpretations (continued)

results in the recognitioh of a lialsiiity ort the balance sheet for all leaseés which convey a right to use the assa! far the.paviod of the
contract. The lease Rability refigtts thé prasent value &f the futuré fental payments, discounted using sither the eflective interest
rate or the incremental barrowing rate of the Group. The cherating lédse chargés previcusly reflected within administrative
expenses have been eliminaled ahd instead depretiation'and finanes charges have been recognised in respect of the lsase assels
‘anid liabilities.

infernationa! Financial Repoiting Standard (IFRS] 16 “Léases “(Continved)

The effect of IFRS 16 for the current teporting period, based ori the operating léaseés in place and qualifying for recognition under,

" IFRS 16 has resulted in the fecognition"of additiondl lease a5sets within property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2019 of
£5.5 million and additional leasé liabikities of £5.5 million in 1otal for the Group. Additional lease liabilities include £2.6m in respect
of contracls which were detetmined 10 be onérous in prior periods. The reldted right of use assets were recognised al £2.6m and
the onerous leases provision brought forward was transfefréd 10 the right of use asset impairment provision The depreciation
charge against the right of use assetin 2019 has been caldulaled to be £0.7 million, with an interest charge of £0.3 million, which
compares to the previous JAS 17 treatment which would have'béen an opérdiing lease charge within operating expenses of £0.9
milfion, resulting in an increase in Adjusted EBITDA repoited in 2019 of £0.9 milion compared to the.fAS 17 treaiment.

The weighied average incremental borrowing rate appiied (o lease liabilities recognised by the group at 1 January 2018 is 7.97%.
When adopiing IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019, the gonsofidated entity has applied the folowing practical expedients:

«  applying 3 single discount rate 1o the portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

e excluding any initiat direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use assets; and

s using hindsight in determining the isase lerm when Ihe conlract conlains oplioas to exiend or terminate. the lease.

o The righl-ol-use-assets have not been assessed for impairment at 1 January 2019 but have been reduced by the
amounl of any anerous lease provisions at thal daté.

Impact of adoption
IFRS 16 was adopled ﬁsing the modified retrospective approach and as such the comparatives have not béen restated.

Differences between lhe operaling lease commitments disclosed at 31 December 2018 under IAS 17 discounted at the incremental
borrowing rate al 1 January 2019 and lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 are explained below:

1 January 2019

£000

Operaling lease commilments as al 1 January 219 (IAS 17} 2476
Adjustment lo opening lease commitments in raspect of lease gxtansion 1,345
Operating lease commitments discount based on the weighted average incremental borrowing rate of 7.97% (IFRS 16) (887}
Onerous contract provision for network infrasiructure and properties now recognised as tease Babililies af 1 January 2019 2,590
Right of use assets recognised on iransition to IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 5524
Lease liabitilies - current (IFRS 16) 2924
Lease liabililies - non-currgnt (IFRS 16) 2,600
T 35

There was na impact on retained earnings on transition.

“The Company has no leases.
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1.26 Critical accounting estimates and judgemants
Esfimates

The Group makes eslimales and assumptions concerning ihe fulure, which by definition will séidom result in actual regults that
malch the accounting'estifiate. The estimatés and aésumplions that have.a significant Tisk of causing a maierial adjustiriént 1 the
caitylng amount of assets and liabilifies withit thg next firancial year are.discussed beiow:

Estimated ﬂnpalmenf of goodwill and intangtdies - the GiGup 168is whether goodiwil and any non-amartised infangible assatshive
sufferad any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 1.5 above. The Group also fests at the intesim stage
and at yeat end Whethdr-othef intangible addets which are dmortised have suffered:any impainment. Should circumstances ¢hisrige
between the intetim stage and the year end, then any impairment i relation fo intangibie assets other than poodwill which was
recognised at the interin 'stage is reviewed 8Ad, [ applicable, reversed. Thie value-in-use caldulations contdin & number of
significant estimates and assumgitions Wicluding fulure sales, miarging dnd appropriata discount rales. Sea noté 13 in tha fiancial
statements for an analysis of goodwill and CGUs.

Estimalion of incremental borrowing rate - Where the interesl rate implicit in 4 lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental

borrowing rate is estimated to discount futire lease payinents to measure the presert value of the lease (iabifity at the iease
commencement date. Such a rale is based oh what the Group estimates it would havés to pay & third party o borrow the funds
necessary lo obtain an asset of a similar value.to the right-cf-use assel, with similar lerms, securily and economic environment.

Eslimation of provisions - & number of provisions exist al the year end. By theit nature, these provisions are fidgmental. The
Directors have considered the range of possible outcomes and have.made provision on the basis of these outcomes. See note
20 lo the financial statements.

Estimation of probability of loss on recoverabiiity of intercompany loans - Where full recoverability of an intercompany foan is not
certain, an estimate is determined as to the probability of recoverabilily. This considars the: probability of defaull, loss arising under
any default, and the exposufe upon any defalilt {the outsianding balances).

Judgements

n the process of appiying the Group's accounting policies, management makes various judgements which can significantly affect
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. Criticat judgements are considered {o be:

Classification of exceptionaf osts - the Oirectors have exercised judgemeant when dlassifying certain costs arising during inlegration
and strategic reorganisation projects. The Directors believe that these cosis are all refated to the types of costs described in 1.20
above and are appropriately clarified.

Recoversbilily of deferred tax assef- the Diractors have exercised judgemant on the racoverability of tax losses attributable to
fulure trading profits generaled by ihe Group, and in doing so this has given rise to a deferred lax assel details of which are shown
in nate 10 to the financial statements.
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‘Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continved) _

2 Reitatement of Company results for the year ended 31 December 2018
Correction of emror in assessing expecled credit losses.
Following the introduction of IFRS' with eflect from 1 Januaty 2018, the company was required o assess the expecied cradit
losses of intercoriparty feceivables. Management has discovered an esror in the application of the standard in the year ended 31
December 2018 twhich Tesulied in aft overstalement of fhe' Ampairmedt provision made al 31 December 2018, and an
understatement of fhé impaiment provisian it the opening position at 1 January 2018, .
The ermor has been cortected by restating aach of the-affected financial stalément ling ilem foF thé prior periods as folows:

31 December 2048 2018 {increase)/  TransiiontoIFRS S 31 December 2018

Balance sheet, . a6 oniginally stated degroase  incroasel{detroasd) (rasta%‘

£000 £000 £000 £'000
Amounts due §rom SibSidiary undertakings 56,338 ' . 5,338
Provisioh against arnounts dug from {56.338) 2470 24312 (29,556)
subsidiary undertakings
Total amounts due from subsidiary . 3470 55312 26,783
underfakings
Net assels . 5,375, 2470 C 24312 Qe
Retsined earnings (41,051) 51,004 {24,912) (14,269)
Total squity 5,315 51,004 (24.912) 32157
Loss for the year ' {67.390) 51,094 . (6,206)

Changes to cash flow slatement:
' 31 Decetnber 2018 31 December 2018
asotiginallystated {Increasey/deciease {reslated)
£/000 £000 . £'000

‘Loss for year ' 673000 - 51,004 (6.206)
Adjustment for impairment of intercompany loans - ' 5,245 5,245
Decraase/(increase) in trade and other receivables ' 58,811 " (57,460} 1,351

Amounts (advanced fo)frepaid by subsidiaries . 1123 1,123

3 Segment reporting

Operating segmenls are reported in a mananer Gonsislenl with thé internal feporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker
("CODM'). The CODM has been identified as the Execulive Board. The Executive Board is responsible for resource allocation
and assessing the performance of the operaling segments. The opérating segments are defined by dislinclly separate product
offefings or markets. The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of revenue and gross
profil. .
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3 Segment rsporting (continued)
During the yeat, the CODM reViewed the operalhg Safments of the Group in response to the sale of 385 ITMS Limited, ihe PAGT
business and the cilant novation exercise carmied out in late 2018 to Slreamiine Ihé activities of the Subaidiaries: In respbnsé o

these changes it was deemed mote abpropriate to repoft upon the Subsidiaries 8s operating sedménts and as Such the 2018
~ comparaive reporting has besn restaled to reflect this change below.

Th following table presents revenuae and gross profit ih fespet of the Group's continuing opetating segmehts forlha‘ year ended

31 Décarndet 2019,
Yraranded 31 Decomber 2013 OiGmup IO Browp Eoiai & forl  Discontinued Tout
Manage: Conngct  {rer-pagment Conlinving Opaistions
Operafions
m-.., ._E@ £000 E00D j;m F000 -
" Revenua Rom conlracs Wth cusiomérs 14,560 14803 (1.102) 2146 {316) 7545
Cost of Sples; (40,128 13,716 1,502 @174y . eillh)]
_Grous profk _asm .. gt R V"' ) @ e,
Adininisnaiide sxpeiaes (.00 {4.525) (888) (12.400) . {12.480)
Impairmant chage T (3,000 - {3,000) ' - (3.000)
Obenatig profivlioss) . o {2590 (?-63!) (bes) {9.061) (216) @8
Ansiysed ot
Adiusted EBITDA 1,13 T48 719 1,42 (216) 9% -
Exceplional costs _ (355) (158 (81) (588) . (588}
Depreciation {1,489) (.17 - (3.241) - (3.241)
Amorfcation of intengible assels {1.825) (1.463) . @.208) . (3,280)
impairment charge . (3.000) . (2.000) . (3,000 -
{LossVpeoki on disposal of Kxed assets . . i - ‘ . B
Shave based payments. : . - {86) lﬁﬁ) 7 - (86)
et Anancial costs {389) 38 Y] (1.827) . {1.827)
Proltfioss) before taxaioi {2.906) {5.676) {2.306) (10.888) {218) {(11.104)
Tax on proioss) on acivites 110 p1id 1,004 2411 k14 2448
Profit{ioss] for the year afler taxation ) {5,299) {1,302} {8477} {(179) (8.856)




(Page 53 of 79)

IDE Group Holdings pic
Annual report and fnancial statements
} Year ended 31 December 2019
Notés to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
3 Seymient reporting (confinued) '
Yaar snded 31 Decomber 2018 1DE Gréwp” iDE Gowg Cential ind Todt  Distontinued Tousi
' Masiage Connect  inibr-sagment Continuing Operalions
Operations
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue trom contracts with cusiomers, 02 14,581 (656) 41,137 10428 51,585
Cost bf Seles (21,369) (13,808) 656 (34.521) id 7.2} (42.343)
_Grosa prokt 5,843 ' 773 - 6,615 2/606 9222
" Adimisiatve gxpenses (15.453) {3.327) {467} (19.247) {2,600} (21847
" Impainment charge {10,508} {6.919) (£7,528) {39771 (21.505)
Operatihg poifloss) {20,519} 9473 (467} (30.159) @asm - {34,130)
Antlysed a5 ' '
Adjusied EBITDA {3.144) {443) {299) (3.885) 582 {3.304)
Exceplionsl cosls (1.889) {109) (m) (2368} (V48) {2,516}
Depreciaion @04 - (824) - R.444) (185) {2.033)
Amorlisafion of intangible assets 2519 m) - (3.250) (59 - (3549
Impaimment charge : {10,609) (6519) - (17.528) {3.977) {21,505)
{Lossiproft on disposal of fixed assets (440) y)] - (441) 16 (425)
Share based peyments . - - a2 202 . 202
ProMt on dsposal of Subsidery . S . . 60 690
Net francial costs {108) m {280) {389) T (390)
Profit{lose) betore taxsbon {20,327 ©474) 74n (30.548) (3.242) (33,840
Taxon on ondinary activies 272 14 . 693 1,089 127 1,216
Profiti(loss) far th year after taxation {20.055) {8.350) {54) (20.459) {3.165) (32624)

IFRS 16 was adopfed using the modified retrospective approach. As such, the comparatives have not been festated and therefore
are nol directly comparable. ‘ '

The Group had one customer who accounted for 27% of revénue from continuing operations during the year (2018: 36.8%). This
revenue is atiributed Rully to the IDE Group Manage segment. ‘

4 Revenue

2019 2048
£000 £000
Revenue from conlracls with customers
Sale of goods : 923 C1,244
Rendering of services 27.23% 39,893
Total C 28,161 0,137
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4 Revenue (oonlinued)
Disaggragation of revenue
The disaggregation of revenue from conlracls with customers is as follows:
Year endad 31 Decamber 2019 Managed Cloud  Nétworks Projecis ‘Total
Sarvices Hosling ,
E0O0 £000 £000 £000 to00
G’ u ' I3 ’ .
Unifad Kingdom 10,986 1222 4,709 3,968 26,897
;Furops 162 2 358 3 984
Rast of word - 108 178 - 0
Total 11,160 7,747 5,243 401 28,181
Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred al 8 point # fime 925 - . - 925
- Services transforred over fime 10,235 747 5243 4017 21,236
Tolal 11,160 7.747 5,243 401 ‘28,181
Year ended 34 December 2018 Mahaged Cloud  Neworks  Projects Total
Services Hosting
© E000 £000 ‘ £000 £OOC £000
Goographical regions
Uniled Kingdom 18362 9,485 6,637 6.951 39425
Eurcpe 149 44D 538 71 1,19
Rest of world - 322 190 1 513
Total 16,501 10,247 7,366 7023 0,137
Timing of revenue recognifion
Goods transferred 2l a poinl in ime 1,146 49 L] - 1,244
Services lranslamad over time 15,355 10,188 1317 7,023 39,893
16,501 10,247 7,366 7023 4,137

Total
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4 Revende (continued)
Contract Balantes
2019 2018
£000 £000
Receivables inchided within trade ahd cthet receivibles : 6,008 7108
Chritract disets ' : $80 682
Gonfract iabities : {1,932 (2975)
Tolaf . ' _ §59s 7,770

— . -

Contract assets predornlnantiy relate to fulfilled obligations.in respect.of projects and managed servioes which are billed monthly
and in arrears. Al the point where completed work is invoiced, the onnlrad asset is derecognised and & corresponding receivable

recognised.
‘Contract Sabilities relate lo consideration received fiom cuslomers in advance of work being compieted.

The Group's gtandard payment terms are 30 days from tfie date of involce. Refunds-are only due in the excephbnammmstanm
whare the-Group does not meet the performance obligations set ouf in 3 conlraat. The majority of revenue for servicas is Invoiced
monihly, sometimes quartetly, in advance, and goods are invaiced on delivery.

Unsatisfied performance obiigations

All coniracts for the pmwston of services are for periods of one year orfess or are ‘billed:based on resources uttised. As perrmillsd
under IFRS 15, the Iransaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclbsed.

5 ' Expenses by nature
219 2018
. £000 £000
Continuing operations
Direct staff costs 1125 8,858
Third pasty cost of sales 14847 25,663
Employee cosls within administrative expenses 2,608 5,737
Amortisation of intangitye assers 38 3,290
Gepreciation ‘ 3241 2,848
Impairmenl charge 3,000 17528
Impairment (gain)loss on wade receivables %0 725
Loss on disposal of fixed assels - 4
Share-based payments b (202)
Exceblional costs ‘ 588 2,38
Amounts payable under operating Iaases . 1463
Other:administralive costs 2,838 2577
Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 2 71,296
6 Auditor's remuoneration
201% 20118
£000 £000
Audit of these financial statements . 24 %
Amounts-receivable by auditors and their associates in tespéct of:
Audit of financial statemerits of subsiciarias of the Company 78 7
Additional fees charged in respeat of prics year's audit H 60
Total KK} 157
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7 Exceptional Costs

Il accordiihce with the Group's poliey i respéct of exceptional items, the following charges were.incurred for the yar in refation
to conitihaing dperations:

2019 2018

£000 £000

Restructyiing snd reorganisation costs 466 2,105
Trademdrk dispute . 23
Othéx exceptional costy 2 -
598 2368

Restruciiting and recrganisation costs in the year ended 31 December 2019-and the year ended 31 Dacembar 201B relate to
costs incurred on the” restructure of the: Group, pradominantly redundancy costs. Trademark dispule.cos(s in the year ended 31
Ducamber 2018 relate 1o the seltiement and associated Jagal cosig in relation to the trademark dlsputawrlh Coreix Limited.

Olhefemphooa] odsts in the year ended: 31 December 2019 relate mainly to costs associated with a break in at the Dartford
faciity,

8 Discontinued operations

On 12 Qctober 2018, the Company sold the entire issued shars capital.of 365 ITMS Limited ("365 ITMS™) and ils subsidiaries to -
PTCA Newco Limited {"PTCA"), a newly incorporated company owned by cerlain members of the management team withih 365
ITMS, on a cash free, debt free basis with a normalised level of working capital (ihe “Sale®). The consideration for the Sale was
£2.8 million, payable in cash. The procéeds of thé Sale were used to retiuce the Group's. Aét debt.

In addition, as part of the Sale cértain assets relating to PACT, the Group's busifiess unit focused on cyber security, mcludmg'
contracts and staff, were transferred to 385.1TMS for cash consideration of £0.2 million which was paid to the Group by 385 ITTMS
upon éompletion of the Sale.

The results for 2018 showed a loss on discontinued operations of £3.2m and a profit on disposat of subsidiary of £0.7m. Furher
losses of £0.2m were kienlified in the current year on contracts novated as paH of the disposal,

8 Finance costs

Continuing Operations 2019 2018
7 E000 £000
Interesi payable on bank Kbans and overdralts. . 29 32
Interest expense on lease liabilities - 422 55
Amortisabon of lozn arrangerien fees 138 k7]
Intaneést expanse in respect of convartible loah nokes ' . 14 70
Interest expense in raspecl of loan noles : 1,009
1,027 389

The Group had no finance income in 2019 or 2018,
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10 Employee benefits expense
Staffcosts for the year, including Directors, reliting to continuing opérations ameunted fo:
2019 %013
£000 ' £000
'Wages and salafies: 1,29 . {287
Social securlly costs 0 1326
Ofhe pénsion costs _ 59 603
Sharé-based paymehls - s {202)
9,819 14,383
———— . —T

At 31 December 2019, the Group- émployed 262 staff, indud'i'ng Diractors (2018: 303).

The average monihly number of persons employed by the Group during the year, including Directors, analysed by category, and
refating lo conlinuing operations, was as follows;

‘Numiber of emptoym ot

2019
Operations ) 200 309
Sales and Marketing . : T -z
Adminisifation a4 54
Diractors . . 3 4
Tota! average monthly headcount , - 389

The Company employed an average of 3 employees during 2019 (2018 4}, being the three direclors of the Company, whose
remuneration is shown below

For Directors who held office during the year, emeluments for the year ended 31 December 2019 were as follows:

Salaryffees Salary/fees
2019 total 2018 total
£ E

Executive :
Andy Ross . _ ] . 141,144
Julian Phipps. . 92,870
lan Sniith! ) 50,000 20,167
Andy Patker ' 150,000 38,469

Non-Executive

Jonalhan Watts ) - 16,668
Bik Dobbie. ' - 20,000
Katherine Ward - 23,334
Max Royde? 26,048 AV
Sebastian White? ] ) 3,952 .
Total 230,000 368,829

1. Directors' emoluments to lan Smith were paid Lo MXC Advisory Limited, a subsidiary of MXC Capital Limited
2. Directors’ emoluments to Max Royde and Sebastian White were paid to Kestred Pariners LLP
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10  Employes bensfits expense fconfinued)

Social security costs in respact of Directors’ émolumerits were £419.5k (2018: £44k). Pensicn contributions were made to a defined
contribution scheme for previous diréctors. No current director participates in any Company pension $cheme.

None of thé: Diraciors made afiy gains on the'exeicise of share oplions it 2019 of 2018
The oplions previously awarded to Joalfiah Waits, Andy Ress'and Jifiah PRibps!fapsed Upon their departure:
Following tfie Fapse ¢f options i 2018, there were ho equiity Share bised payments i respéot of Direclors diiing the year (credit

of £104k in the yeat 10 31 December 2018), thete were also no eduiti share based pdyiments i respect of other employees during
the year {credt of £102K in the year to 31 Decembet 2018) _

11 Faxation
{3  Taxon loss on ordinary activities _
. ’ 2019 2018
£000 £000
Current tax credit
Current year -
Adhshnams for prior years _ _ s
Cufrent tax credit
Deferred tax .crcdil {2,448) (1,216}
Totad b credit : | ' -(2.048) (1.216)
Relating to; .
Confioing operations {2.411) (1,089}
Discontinued operalions : (37 (127)
(2,448) " (1,216)

Following the year end, in the.Budget of 11 March 2020, the Chancelior announeed the: reversal of the previously enacted reduction
in the rale of corporation tax. This reversal was subsequenily confirmed by a resdlution under the Provisional Cotiection of Taxes
Act 1968, which set the rale al 19%. The impact of this reversal is a net increase in metaxd'narge which will be recognised in
2020, of less than £0.4mitlion.

Reconciliation of the total income tax cradit:

019 2018
£000 £000
Lass before faxation on conlinuing operafions © {10,888) (30,548)
Taxusin the Lned Kingdom coorlon L at f 19% (016 16%) ' 2,069) (5,804)
Nondeductible exponses 16§ ur
Oaprecialion on non-qualifying assets : 587 3332
Tix lossas not récognised ‘ " 988
Tax losses recoghisad in period {1.233) (431)
Adjustmeit for rate change 139 81
Dlsoondnued operalichs . {n (127)
Total tax cradit (2,448) {1,216}

e— * p—
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11 Taxation {continusd) '
{b)  Deforred tax liability
2018 2018
£000 £000
Nef deferred tax liabikty: : X '
A1 January 3,899, 5115
Credt 1o ¥icome statement ‘ (2449 (4216
Al 31. Dacember : 1M 3,899

Deferred tax Yabilities arose in respeét of the-antorlisation of intangible assets. recognised on acquisilions-made-and the difference

between capital allowances and deprecialion, delails:as follows: o
- wie 2018

£000 £000

Fixed assel liming diflerences | | 3272 397
Olher temporary differences : ) s (18)
At 31 Deceniber | ' , am 3,89

Defarred tax assels arose in respect of trade losses, delails as follows:

2019 2018

, £000 £000

Tax losses recogniseg 1,806 -

Other temporary difiériences ) 15 -
At 31 Decamber R 1,821

The Group had unrecognised Irading losses carried forward at 31 December 2019 of £15.6 million (2018: £25.5 milion).

Deferred tax assets are recognised for lax losses carried forward of £10.7 miliion to the extent thal the realisation of the related
1ax benefit tfirough future taxable profits is probable. The deferred tax credit to the income slatement relatas fo the recognition of
2 previously unrecognised deferred lax asset for tradinig losses of £10.7 million at the reporting period end date. The recognition
is restricted to the deferred tax liability anising in relation to timing differences on the acquired intangible assets. In assessing
Tecoverability, management considers that the appropriate period over which profits can be assessed with a reasonable degrée
of certainty, and therefore used to offset the losses; is the period lo 31 December 2028,
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12 Earnings pér share

Basic earnings per share has been caiculaled using the:loss afier Lax for the year for continuing operations of £8.5 million (2018:
£29.5 million), a loss after tax for the year for discontinued operations of £0.2 million {(2018: £3.2 million) dnd 3 wéighiléd average
humber of ordinary shares of 400,802,032 (2018 246,067,004). The weighied average number of ordinary sharés for hé purpose
of calculaling the. basic and dilued! measures is-the same. This is because the oulslanding share incenives, defails' of which ace
givenviri nole 25, would have the effécT of reducing the foss per ordindry share and therefore would be anii-dilutive under ffie lerms

of 145 33,
Continuing aperations

) 2019 2018
Statufory basic and diuled loes per share (pence) @212 {11.57p
Discontinued opetations
Statutory basic and cliuted losy par share (pénie) 0.04)p (129
Tolal basic and dilsted loss per share : @18)p {13.26)

58




(Page €1 of 79)

IDE Group Holdings pic
Aiinyal teboil and Bnahcial slatetnohts
. o ; Yéi¥ andd 31 Decafribef 2019
Notes'to the Consolidated Firtancial Statements (continved)
13 Propefty, plant and equipment
Group
. . Equiptieat,
Leasshold  Compuer - Nefwork fihutes
property soffware’ infrastructure ‘and fittings Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Gost
AT 1 Janbiafy 2016 1 1,505 3% 8% 18,585
Disposal of disconfinued opetations 55 (12) {139) Ml’;g (520}
Additiong ' 19 131 303 354
Disposals - iy . (14 (725)
At 31 Decamber 2018 : : 117 1,003 7 5438 3,284 7582
Additiang 10 2 35 110 "
Right of use.assels recogrised on ransion to IFRS16 2,542 : 85 300 294
At 31 December 2044 2,669 - 1,028 13,558 '3, 701 20,953
Accumutated depreciation
At January 2018 u 673 2584 2,208 5,480
Disposal of discontinuad operalions 57 (10) (56) (223 {23
Charge for the year - contifiing ' 10 304 1961 573 2848
Chargs for the year - discontinued 5 5 a7 128 185
Disposals - (283) - 4] (284)
A131 December 3018 98 889 4.5% 2585 8,006
Charge for the year — continuing 521 238 1,833 648 3241
At 31 December 2018 N 817 927 6,369 3034 11,247
Net carrying amount _
31 December 2019 ' 2,052 9 7.189 1 9,706
31 December 2018 - A 314 8,902 - 599 9,836
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13 Property, plant and equipmaent (continued)
Right of use assets
The carrying amounts of propelty, plant and eqiAgment incliide right of use assets a detatied below: -
9
. £000
Leasehaid Progerty - right-of-use ' 2542
Less: striumulated depreciation (505)
2,037
Equipment, fidures and fitlings, - right-ol-use d07
Less: Accumulated depradigiion (178)
129
Neiwork Infrasiruciure — tight-of-use [
Nelwork inffasituctuee - right of use 21588
Lass: impairment provision L 2,589)
) 85
Less; Accumilaled depreciaion ‘ 13}
, 1
2,178

At 31 December 2018 included within network infrastruckure are assets held under finance leases with a carrying value of £475k.

The depreciation charge for the year of £3.2 million {2018: £2.8 million) relates io eonhnuung operatms and has been charged fo
administrative expenses.

Company

The Company has no property, plant and equ'ipmeni at 31 December 2019 and at 31 December 2018,
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14 Intangible assets '
Group :
Customer
coniracts and
: refated  Technology
Goodwil Tradesharks-  relationships  development Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost: ., .
Al 1 January 2018 36381 1,707 30,167 1,008 21,370
Disposal of dhscontihtied dpetations (6.125) . {1,111) (160) {7.396]
Ar 31 Decamber 2018 | 3225 1767 2,076 9% B3.974
At 31 December 2019 _ 12,29 1,707 2,07 935 63974
Impairment and amortisation:
At 1 Janury 2018 9,339 B0t 5,841 200 16,020
Amortisation for the year — conlinuing operations - 341 2,865 84 3290
impairmant chasge - continuing operalions 16,986 - 13,655 542 31,183
Reversal of impairment charge - - (13,655) - {13,655}
imparment charge - discontinued operalions 3,977 - - ’ - kKE:Trd
Amortisation for tha yaar — discontinued operations - . 250 - 29
Disposal of discontinued operations (3.977) . {518) . {4,495).
Al 31 December 2018 26,325 989 8447 826 36,579
Amgttisation for the year - continuing operations - M 2,865 83 3,280
impairment charge — continuing operations 3,000 . - - 3,000
At 31 Decomber 2019 20325 1322 1392 908 42,868
Nat carrying amount:
31 December 2019 2 385 11,764 2 21,106
3t Decomber 2018 5,931 7% 20629 100 27,395

The amorlisation charge of £3.3 million relates to continuing operations and is included in the loss for the year from continued
operations in the Income Statement within adminisiralive expenses.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events of changes in circumstahces-indicale that the carrying
value may be impaired. Goodwill is supported by calculating the discounted cash flows arising from the businesses acquired which
represent the cash generating unit ("CGU") to which goodwill is alfocated. The Group's CGUs are considered to be the two lrading
subsidiaries, !DE Group Manage and IDE Group Connecl. The goodwill held is attributablé to the IDE Group Connect CGU.

Other intangible assals. are reviewed for impairment indicalors in line with the Group’s accounting polioy.
As a resul of this review, there is an impairment charge of £3.0 million in the year (2018: £17.5 million).

The recoverable amount of all cash generating unils has been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets for the: year ending 31 December 2020 and extrapolated forecasts.
for a further four years by prudent growth rates applicable to the CGU, which are below bench-marked median revenue growth
rates and EBITDA profitability levels for relevant sectors. The fnancial bucgets were approved by the Board of Directors as part
of our annual forecasting and budgeling process. A lerminal value has been calculated based on a long-term growth rate of 2%..
The recoverable amount in relation to IDE Group Manage was catculated to be £19.7 million and the recoverable amount in retation
Io IDE: Group Connect was calculaied 1o be £10.7 million. ‘
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1 intpngite assets (continued)

The calculaions tised to compute cash flows at CGU lavel arg based on the Group's budget; growth rates, WACG and cther knbwi
variables. The calculations are: sensitive 10 movements in both WACG snd EBITDA. The pre-iaix WACG iias been estimaled at
11% per atinum (3018: 15%) for both CGUSs with reference. i comparable companies operaling wilhin the seclor. Sensitivilies
have been run on cash flow forecasts for sl CGUs. The Boand is satisfied that the key assumplions, summarised below, of revenue,
gross profit, and overhead growth rates are achicvable.

Manage Connect.
Canrying dmound 1000 12,007 13781
Value in use £000 19,768 10,743

;

Key sssumptions
2020 4crecast Fevenue £000 ‘ 16,694 14,054
2020 forecast Gross Proét £000 o 4,463 1,897
2020 lorecast Ovitheads £000 3,842 1,091
Gross Profil growth rale 2021-2024 «10% 5%
Ovarhead growth rale 2021-2024 . ’ 2% *,
Discount rate 179 1%

The Board reviewsd the Manage CGU for impairment in view of pre-lax losses incured in the CGU, and based on the review do
not consider there to be any impaimment of the Manage CGU intangible assets. Given the Group's cument pipeline and ability 1o
undertske |arge projects which could result in higher gross margin, as well as the fact that further direct cost savings are in the
process of being identified, the Board is salisfied with the rates of growth in the base case and befleve there could be significant
upside and is therefore salisfied that lheu are no reasonably plausible scananios which may resuit in an impairment of the Manage
CGL's intangible assels. Accordingly, no sensilivity analysis is prasented.

For the Connect CGU, the impairment review indicated a requirerent for a further £3 million impairment against goodwil for the

.year (2078: £17.0 miion) based on a shortfall of the estimated value in use compared k the camying value CGU. The CGUs
- performance has improved compared to prior years, bul the recovery has been slower than foracast.

The remaining unamortised life of the-intangible assets at 31 December 2019 is as folows:

»  [DE Group Connect Trademarks — 1 year, net carrying value £0.4 miflion

+  |DE Group Connect Technology — 1 year, nel carrying value £0.03 milion

¢  IDE Group Connect novated customer conlracts and related refationships- 5 years, net carrymg vakie £6.8 million

« IDE Group Gonnect legacy customer contracts and related relationships- 1 year, nal carrying value £0.4 miion

» IDE Group Manage customer conlracis and relaled reiationships —9 years, net carrying value £10.6 milion
Company

The company had no inlangible assets at 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 or 31 December 2019.
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15 . Investments
Company
2019 2018
£000 £000
Al 1 January 20181 31 Decernber 2018 ahd.31 December 2019 - . 1877
“The Company-fias the Tollkiwiny invesinients in Subsidiatidss
Country of Class of Gwnership
Wicorporstion  shares hekl’ 201% 2018
Héld diréctly by IDE Group Heldings plc
IDE Group Limied England Ordinary 100% 100%
ConnaxionsdLoridon Limited : Scotiand? Ordinary 100% 100%
Selection Services Investments Limifed Scoifand? Oudinary 100% 100%
Setection Services. Limited England! Occinary 100% 100%
Castle Digital Services Inc. Usa? Ordinary 100% 100%
Cupid.torm Inc. _USA Ovdinary 100% 100%
Agsistance Genia Logiciel Francal Ordinary 100% 100%
Held indirsctly by IDE Group Holdings ple
IDE Group Finahcing Litmited England® © Ordihary 100% 100%
IDE Group Manage Limited Englang’ Ordinary 100% 100%
IDE Group Profect Limited England’ Ordinary 100% 100%
IDE Group Subholdings Limited England’ Ordinary 100% 100% .
IDE Group Connect Limited England* Ordinary 100% 100%
IDE Group Voice Limited England! Ordinary 100% 100%
Aggragated Telecom Limiled ) : ) Englang! Ordinary 100% 100%
Hooya Dighal Limiled Cyphuss Ordinary 100% 100% .
1 Registered office is located at Interchange, 81-35 Station Road, Crydon, Enpland, CRO 2RD
2 Ragistered office is located at 24 Dublin Street, Ednburgh EH1 3PP
3 Registeied affice.is located at 2711 Centervite Road, Suite 400, New Castis, Wikmingion, Delaware 19506, U.S.A,
4 Rugisterad offics is locited at 38 Rue Royale, 92201 Gainl-Cloud, France
5 RegiSiered office is locaiad at Fasieroments 115, Ankbuanettas Bulding, 6031 Lamata, Cyprus

A1 31 December 2019 and 2018, the rading subsidiaries of the Company were [DE Group Manage Limited andiDE G

Limited.

IDE Sroup Holdings pic

roup Connect

TOE Group Manage activity consists of 1T Managed sefvices and IDE Group Connecl consists of corinectivity, cloudand colocation

services

Al of the reenaining subsidiaries are non-trading.

Connexions4London Limited, Selection Services Investments Linifled, Aggrégated Telecom Limited, Selection Services Limited,
IDE Group Subholdings Limiled, IDE Group Voice, IDE Group Finanting Limited and {DE Group Prolect Limited are exempt from
The requirements of the Companias Act relating lo the audi of individual accounts by virlue of Section 479A and the parent company

has guaranteed all their liabilities at the. reporting date.
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16 Trade and other receivables

Group
Curret 201§ 2018
£000 £000
Trada receivabies §,008 7.108
Laspmlsmtmmmdudemvm {387} (7125)
Trade receivables - net 54 6,303
Caniract assets 5%0 662 |
Prapayments and other receivables 1,508 1,848
Taxalion ahd sociat secirity n -
1] 8,893
Grove
Non-current oY 2018
: £008 £000
Amounis due from subsidiary underiakings . - .

Provision against amounts due from subsidiary underiakings -

IDE Group Holdings pic
Annual repoit and financial stalements
Year ended 31 Decémber 2019

2019 2018

£000 £000

- 9

- 9

2 a

] -

a3 46

N —e——
Company

(Restated)

2019 2018

_£000 £000

57,904 §6,338

(49,984) {29,556)

18,940 %782

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group reviews the amount of credit foss assaciated with Its irade receivables based on forward
looking esimaies that take into accaant current and forecast credit coriditions as opposed to relying on past hisksical default rales.
The Group has appiied the Simplilied Approach applying & provision matrix based on categovisation of the customer based on total

1.Top 10
2.Top S0
3. Cther

Impairmeni was calculated based on e éategory the customer falls in'to:

revenue received by the group per annum to fheasure fifetime expected cFedit iosses and after taking into account customers with
different credit risk profles and current and forecast trading conditions. Credit risk is deemed lower on cusiomers that contribute
higher revenue due to an increased dependency on the.group's sarvices for business conlinuity.

Al period end, cuslomers were categorised into three calegories based on spend in the las{ 12 months.

Category Inpairment Rate. Carrying amounl Creidit loss aliowance (et of VAT)

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

| : % % £000 £000 £000 £000
| Top 10 0 0 3468 3783 . .
Top 50 2 2 751 1670 13 3
R Other 5 5 1130 861 % 3%
| Specific. ‘ 100 100 657 794 546 66t
' 7,108 597 725

\ o

Specific provisions aré also made based on known issues or chianges in the lifetime expecled credil ioss. As af 31 December 2019,
fradé receivables of £0.6 filion (2018: £O.7 million) weré inpained and fully provided, and were mainly over 120 days old. The
majorily of the impairment retaites to spesific customers, and the credit risk on other giistomer is considered very low

64




{Page 67 of 79)

IDE Group Holdings pic
Annual report and financial statements
| Yeak enidod 31 Dtembe 2019
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
16 Trade and ofher receivables {continued) '
Movements on the Group provision for impairment of tradé receivables are as follows:
' Group Gompany
2019 2018 2m9e 2018
€000 £000 £000 £000
AL 1 Janvary ' s 460 .
Increase in impairment provigior: 30 395 .
Disposal of discontinued operatiohs o {33) ‘
Vrile offs {150 (18) .
At 31 Decernber 508 7% -

The creation and release of a provision for impaired receivables has been in the main included in "administrative expénses‘ in the
income Slatement, with an amount being set against contract assets, £6k (2018: £11k).

The other asset classes within the Group's trade and other recewabies do not conlain impaired assets.

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings

The Company has funded the trading activities of its principal subsidiaries by way of inier-company loans. The amounts advanced
dy not have any spooific torms relating Lo their repayment, are unsecured and are inferest free. As all loans to subsidiaries are o
be lreated as due-on demand, they fall within the scope of IFRS 9.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company is required lo make an assessment of expacied credit losses. Having considered the
: quantum and probability of credit losses expected to arise across a number of scenarios, a provision of £1.5 million for the expected
. credit loss was recognised in the reporting period in respect to irading subsidiaries, and a provision of E47.5 miion for the expected
credit loss was recognised at the reporting period end in respect to intermediary holding companies.

The catculation of the allowance for lifetime expected credit losses reqeiires a significant degree of éstimation and judgement, in
particular in determining the probability weighled Kkely obicome for’ each scenario considersd to determine the expecled credil
loss in each scenario, Should the assumptions in the business plan vary, this coukd have a significant impact on the carrying value
of the infercompany loans in following periods.

The recoverability is sensitive to the probability of the achievement of future cash flows. Each change of 1% point in probability
resulls in an increase/decrease of £190k.

A breakdown of the balances is set out in hote 30.

17 Cash ahd cash equivalents

Group Company
2019 2018 2019 2018
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents 679 - 103 5,488

Bank overdrafis are detailed im hote 22 borrowings.
The table below shows. the balance wilh the major counterparty in respect of cash and cash equivalents,

Group ' Company
2018 2018 2019 2018
Credit rating £000 E000 £000 £000

A | & : o8 5,488
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18 Trade.and othier payables
Group
2019 08 2018 2008
£000 £000 . S ) £000
Curvend
Trade payables 5824 4,883 752 156
Arhbunts due to subsidiary underakings . - 1,204 1,204
Other payables o 185 4 42
Taxalionand social security 25 786 . -
Acciodls w05 - 1,816 n 249
Amounis due fo subsidiary undertakings are unsscured, interest frée and are fepayable on demand.  *
19 Contract llabilities | :
Group '
2019 218 201% 2018
. £000 £000 £000 £000
Conirac liabilties racognisable wilhin 12 monihs 1928 2,962 . -
Contraci liab#itfes recogrisabie afier 12 months [ 13 . . -
Tokal contract Rabiffies 390 2975 . .

income is deferred to the Slatement of Financial Position when invoicing of révenue o customers. oocurs ahead ol revenue
recognilion in the income Statement.

20 Commitmeits and cohtingencies
a) Operating leases

Future aggregated minimum annual lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for continuing operations as at 31

December 2018 are as follows:
Group - Land and

Buildings Other
2018 2018
£000 £000
Not aier than one year 85¢ 278
Afier one year but not more than five years 1,197 147
2,051 425
— ATT——

The Group's operaling leases i the.year ending 31 December 2018 relate lo property, molor vehicles and office equipment and
had réniaining lerms of between one and five years.

On 1 January 2019, the Graup adopted the modifisd retrospective dpproach of IERS16. AN aperating leases mel the crileria for
capitalistion and were recfassified as finance leases accordingly.

“The Gompany had no leases.
b) Capital commitments
The Group had no coniracted but not provided for capital commitments at 31 December 2019 (2018: Enil}.
¢) Contingent igbilllies

The Group has no contingent liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
2 Provisions

‘Tax planning provision

‘The 3 planning arrangéments felats to two tax schenies entered into by IDE Group Manageé Limited on behalf of ex-diraclors in
a previous accounting year prior to becoming part of the Group. The Tiabilitie o birtsanding tax and nalioRiat insurance were
setfied with HMRC during 2017, the:remaining positioh covéts the potential furthier costs which may be incurred with the schemes,
therefore there is an uncertainty in respect of the value, however it is not expected to excded the provision and all amounls are
expected fo be sqttied in 2020, .

Proparty provision

The Groll cuifreritly Kas somé vacan! office space. This was previousty treated as a provision for an onerous iease but hasbeen
transferred ko right of 0sé addets.. The remaining balande in réspect of property provision are dilapidation provisions. Dilapidation
provisions. ate built up over the associated lease based on estimates of costs of work required o fulfil the Group's. contractual
obligation unde? the lease agreements to relum the property lo the same condilion as at the commencement of the leasa. This
provision is expeoted 15 be Settiéd in full at the expiry of the longest standing lease, curmently expiring in 2027.

Other provisions:

Other provisions in the prior yeat primarily relate lo committed costs under various onerous supplier conlracts across hosting,
connectivity, hardware and software services, for example costs in relation 1o emply racks within data centres which have to be
paid for regardiess of whether populated or not and costs in refation 1o excess software licences which are nof used. The provisions
relating to conltracts qualifying as leases have been de-recognised on transition to (FRS 16 and dealt with in accordance. All
remaining amounts aze expecied to be setled by 2022.

Group . Tax planning Property Other '
‘ provision provision Total
£ooo £000 £000 £000
Balance ai 1 Jahuary 2019 k) 599 2,587 3219
Increase in year - 54 255 308
Utlised : : {379) (135) (514)
COnerous leases de-recognised ¢n transiticn to IFRS16 . {162) (2427 (2,589)
Balance at 31 December 2019 . bk ] 109 280 22
‘ 2019 2018
Non-current 230 1.705
Current 192 1514
422 3,219
Compaty ‘ , Other
: : Provision Total
£000 £000
Balance at 1 January 2013 ) 50 50
Utiliséd - .
Balance at 31 December 2014 : s 50
: ‘ 2019 2018
Non-current - .
Current 50 50
50 30
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% Borrowirigs,
Group Company
019 2018 2019 2018
£000 £000 £000 £000
Lease liabiliies 1.4% 4 R .
Loan.Nokes 12474 . sidn -
14,333 484 12474 -
Group ] Compiny '
019 . 2018 2019 018
Cufrent
Bank loan . 4750 - 750
Unamortised 1bdn arangeminl fee - {69) . {69)
Bank overfrat - 2905 . .
Lease fiabikties 1,766 214 - .
1,766 7,800 - ' 4,681

The camrying value i not malsriakly different to the fair value of these.liabikties.
Bank facilities ‘

During the year ended 31 December 2018 the Group's borrowings were with National Westminster Bink pic (Natwest) and
comprised a five-year, fuly drawn £4.75 milion Revolving Credit Facilty ("RCF”) and a £3.5 miion overdraft facility {the
"Faciities”). Interest was payablé on the uliised RCF at 2% above LIBOR.

In Janvary 2019 the Company issued £5.3 milion of secured loan noles with a six-year lefm and a 12% coupon which is
compounded, rolied up and payable al the end of the lerm {"Loan Notes®). The proceeds of the Loan Notes were used to repay
£4.125 million to Natwest and the RCF was reduced to £625,000. In February and March 2019, a further £4.7 mition in fotal of
Loan Noles were issued to repay the remaining Facikities, which were then cancelled, and provide additional working capital. The
Loan Notes carry an arrangement fee of 2.5 per cent,, payable at the end of the term, and an exit fe of 2.5 par cent., afso payable
at the end of the term. :

in December 2019 the Company issued an additional £1.5 million of Loan Notes {with the same lerms as those issued in the first
quarter of the year). The proceads of the issue of the Loan Noles were used to fully repay certain lease agresments o which the
Group was parly and lo provide additional working capital for the Company.

The Loan Noles are held al amorésed cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate for thé Loan Noles
has been caiculaled to be 18%.
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2 Borrowings (continued)
Lease Habilities
The present valua of lease liabilities is a3 follows:
Group . Gross
. contractusl
‘amaunfs Canrying
payible intstest amount
201% 09 2019
" £000 £000 £000
Less tfiah ofie yéar 1,945 in 1,766
Between one and five ysars 1688 407 1,219
Griate)-thah five years . 644 4 580
s w0 3625
Finance lpase pbiigaiions al 31 December 2018 were: .
Group ' Minimum
‘ ‘ lease
payments Interest Principal
2i8 2018 218
' £000 £000 £000
Less than ane year 254 40 214
Between one aid five years . 558 64 494
‘ 87 104 =708
" ———— ] P
1]
The Company has no lease liabilites at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: nil)
Reconciliation of borrowings:
Group Non-curent Current Woncurrent  ~ Current Total
Lease kabfiies  Lease iiabilities Borrowings Borrowings Borrowings
£000 £000 £000 £000 LO0D
Balance at 1 January 2019 494 244 - 7,586 3,204
Non-cash changes ) '
Transfer from current lo non-current 1,239 (1.239) - - -
Lease liabilities recognised on lransition 126 5,388 - - 5,524
Loan note interest : - - 1,089 1,089
Lease interes - 38 - - s
Amoriisation of loan fee - ~ - 138 1718
Loan fées accrued - - - (69) (69}
Fees in respect of loan notes * (135) - {£35)
Interest and other charges - 104 - . 133
Cash flows . .
Issue of loan notes - . 11,520 - 11,520
Repayment of loah - - . {4,750y {4,750)
Repayment of lease liabllities* - - (2,605) . . {2,605)
Overtrah repaid - - - (2.905) (2.905)
Interest paid ‘ (422) (2 (451)
‘Balance at 31 December. 2018 1,859 ’ 1.766 : - 1'2-'.47-'4 - 16,089
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22 Borrowings {continued)
Compairy Non-tumment Current Noh-currest - Cumsnit Tota! .
Lease lisbfiies  Lease Rabifflies Borrowings Borowings Borrowings
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Balance 1 Jayary 2018 - 4,681 4681
Notmeash chifigs
Loamnole interes] - s 1,088 - 1,089
Ammortidation of loan feg - s €9 69
‘ Fees 1n resboct of Joan nélas . s {135) - (135)
Interest and olher charges . . . “ “
Issoe of loan notes . . 11,520 - 1,520
‘ ; ol bank Ican . % - (4,72) (4,750)
, Interast paid . . M) ()
Batance at 31 December 2019 ‘ . - 1247 : 12474
23 Convertible loan notes
' Group ind Compeny
£000
‘Balance at 1 January 2019 - 1654°
Interest unwound . 149
| Balance at 31 December 2019 1,003

On 21 August 2018, as part of a wider fundraising, ihe Company issued £2.55 million of unsecured loan noles, which have a term
of 5 years and a zero per cent coupan ("CLNs"). The CLNs can be converted into new ordinary shares in the capitat of IDE at a
prica of 2.5 pence per share. Conversion s al the option of the holder at any time during thé 5-year term. At the end of the term, if
{he holder has not chosen to convert the CLNs, the CLN will be sattied with a cash repayment. At issue, the CLNs have a fair
value of £2.54 million, splitinto an aquity component (£0.96 million) and a debt component (£1.58 million).

4 Financial instruments by category

The objeciives of the Group's treasury activities are o maage financial fisk, secure cost-effeciive funding where necessary and
minimise adverse effects of fluotuations in the financial markets on the valye. of he Group's finanicial assets and IFabilities, on
reported profitabiiity and on cash flows of the Group.

The Group's principal financial instruments for fundraising are convariible loan notes and loan notes. The Group has various other
financial instruments.such as cash, rade receivables and trade payabies that arige directly from ils operations.

Group

2018 2018
Asoets £000 £000
Trade receivables mat of credit lags provision 5,409 6,383
Coniract assels 390 662
Other: feéaivabies s .
Cash and cash equivalents & -
Tolsl 1,02 7045
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24 . Financial instruments by category (confinued)
Company
(Restated)
2019 2018
Assets 0o £000
Amortiséd dast: ‘
Trade rEcelvables . 9
Othe receivables _ ‘ - B
Ammoinis du Tor subsidiary uiidértakings 18,040 285782
Cash and cash equivaients . 103 5488
Total 19,043 32,318

The tarying amoun of these assats is aquivalent to their fair valus; At 31 December 2019, trade receivibles dré reported net of
the expecied credit loss prdvision of £0.6 mitiion (2018: £0.7 milion), amoiints due from sobsidiary underfaklngs e feportéd nel
of the explectdd crédit loss provision of £49 million (2018: £30 million)

Group
. : 2018 2018
Liabiities at amortised cost £000 £000
Trade payables ; . 5,624 4,882
Accruals and other payables 1,714 2,000
Bank loan - 4,780
Bank overdraft - 2,905
Lease liabiities (2018: finance leases) ' 3,625
Convartitle 1oan notes - _ : 1,803 1,654
Loan Noles ' 12,414 .
Total 25,240 16,900
Company . )
2019 2018
Liabilties _ £000 £000
Trade payables ‘ 752 i56
Accruals and other payables 19 N
Intercorhpany payables 1,204 1,204
Bank loan : - 4,150
Convertble loan notes . 1,803 1 654
Loan Notes . 12,474
Total : 16,352 ’ 8,055
e ———

The carrying amount of these fiabilities is equivalent to their fair value,

The Group has not entered into any derivative financial instruments in the current or preceding period.

n
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25 Financial risk management

The Group's activities are-exposed 1o a variety of financial risks: market risk (including cash flow inlefest rate tisk and price risk),
credit fisk and liquidity risk. The Group's ovérsll risk fanagement progratime focuses on the unpradictability of financial markefs
and seeks to minimise potential adverse éfdcts on the Growp's financial performance.

Risk inanagenient is carried out centrally under policies dpproved by the Board of Directors. Managament identifies, évaludtes
and seeks {o mitigate financial risks. ‘The Board of Direttors plovides principles foi overall risk management as well as policiés
covefing specific reas, such as foreign exchange visk, inlerest rate risk, credit risk, usé of derivative financial instruments and
non-derivative financial instruments, and investmenis of excess bguidity.

The Group pays interest on its borrowings.

Borrowings at vatiable rates expose the Group 1o cash flow interest raté risk. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group's borrowings al variable rate were denominaled in Pounds Sterfing with interest linked lo Slerling interest rates, During the
yéar under review, these borrowings were repaid and feplaced with loan noles with & fixed rte 6f interest. The further toan notes
Issued in December 2019 also have a fixad rate of interest.

Price risk
The Group is not exposed to significant commadity or Security price rigk.

Cretfit risk

Credit risk fs. managed al a subsidiary level. Credi risk anises. from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures to
customers, including outstanding receivables. Individual risk limits are set based an interna! and external ratings and reviewéd by
management. The utilisation of credit mits is regularly monitored with eppropriate acion taken by managemént in the event of -
the breach of a credit imit. The Group has applied the simplified approach applying a provision matiix based on nuriber of days past
due o measure lifetime expected cradit losses and after taking inlo account customers with different crédit risk profiles and cumrent
and forecast trading conditions. The Group has recognised a provision in respect of rade receivables of £0.6 milion (2018: £0.7
million). .

Liquidity risk

Management reviews cash forecasis of trading comparties of the Group in accordance with practice and limits set by ihe Group.
The Group's liquidity managemént policy involves projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to

~ eet these,

The tables below analyse the Group and the Company's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on e remaining
peviod at the balance sheet dale to the cohlractual maturity date. These amounts disclosed in the table arg the contracted
undiscounted cash flows. Balances within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impacl of discounting is riot significant.

Group : . More than )
) Within 1 year 1-2 years 2years Total
At 31 December 2019 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other payables 737 : - - 1,337
Lease Kabilities 1,945 619 171t 4,215
Convertible loan noles - . 1,803 1,803
Loan Noles - - 12,474, 12,474
9282 619 15,988 5
—m— W —— Demma——
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25 Financial risk management {continded)
Group : More than
Within 1 year 1:2 years 2years Total
Al 31 Decermiber 2016 £000 £008 £600 000
Trade and other payablss 7,670 - . 1610
Fifiance leases ‘ rall 21 21 T08
Bank loan - - 4,750 4,156
Overdraft 2905 - - 905
Interest on loan &-leases 40 k<] . 108
Convertile [can nolies - - 1,654 1554
10,829 245 8,717 SRR LA )
Company ] Moce than
Withii 1 year 1-2 yiirs 2 yaans Total
At 31 Decamber 2018 - £000 - 2000 £000 £000
Trade and oief payables ' 8n . . N
" Intercompany payables 1,204 - = 1204
Convertible foan hotes . s 1,803 1,803
Loan Notes ‘ - . 12474 12474
2,075 . 1w 16382
Comgpany ~ ' Mora than ,
Within 1 year 1.2 years 2 years Total
At 31 December 2018 _ £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and olher payables . 447 - . 447
nlercompany payables ; 1,24 _ . . - 1,204
Bank loan - B 4,750 4,750
Interest on bank loan 102 4 20 163
Convertible loan noles : - - 1654 1,654
1,783 Ly} 6424 818

26 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the Group's future growth and its ability to confinue-as a going
concern in order fo provide retums for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capilal structure to reduce the cost of capial. The
Group operates in the network and cloud hosting sector, which, from time-fo-time requires subsiantial fixed asset investments, bul

the Group is financed pradominately by equity. .

In order to maintain or adjust the capital siructure, the Group has previously both issued new Shares, bank débt and bank facilities,
and both unsecured and secured loan notes. The Groiip- monitors capital on the basis of the rafio of net debt to adjusted
EBITDA. As al 31 Decembet 2019 the ratio was 11.9, Net debt as al 31 December 2019 is caloulaled as tofal bank borrowings; 8s
at 31 Pecember 2019 i, and loan roles (including ‘curvent and non-current brrowings’ as shown in the consafidatéd balance
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings befote interest, tax, deprecialion, amoriisation,
impairment charge, excepliohal items, Tloss)/gain on disposal of fixed assets and share-based paymenls. ‘

The foan note insirument under which the' Secuiéd Loan Noles were issued does not contain arty covenants, however, the Group
continues to carefully moritor it§ capital position. The Group adopls a risk-averse position with respect lo borrowings and faintains
significant headroom to eisure that any unexpecied situations do not ereale finaricial stress.

“The Group-has nét proposed a dividend for: the current or prior year.
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7 Called up share capitil - Group and Company

Shirk capitsl |

Al't January - fully paid’

Shares issued on subscription, 1 Augusl 2078

Shares issued on placing, 21 August 2018

In issue & 31 Degember-=fly paid

Ordinary shares of 25p

Sharés classifid it sherehciders’ unds

IDE Group Hoidings plc
Annual report dnd financial stalements
Year snded 31 Decamber 2019
2019 2018
Number ~ Numbec
400802032 2007291
D 20,000,000
) 18,672.9t
ADON02032  400,802032
2019 M8
£ £
10,020,050, 10,020,050
10,020,050 10020050

The hotdars of ordinary shares araanhﬂed o receive-dividends as dediared from time fo time and are entitied toonevof&pershare _

at meetings of the Company.

On 1 Augus! 2018, thé Company issued 20,000,000 new ordinary shares al a price of 2.5 pence per ordinary share as the initial
tranche of a total fundraising of £5.5 milion of which £1.8 milioi was raised by way of convertibie loan nofes. On 21 August 2018
a further 130,072,911 shares were issued al 2.5 pence pef ordinary share (o complete the fundraising. In addition, a further
50,000,000 ordinary shares were issued on hat dale by way of repayment of £1.25 million of the £2.0 million loan notes which had
been issued in May 2048, The other £0.75 milion of loan notes which were issuad in May were repaid by way of the issue of
convertible loan notes, Yiving thé totat of £2.55 million convertible loari noted in issue at the year end.

The Company had 400,802,032 ordinary shares issued and fuily paid up as at 31 December 2019,

Dividends

The Director$ do not propose a dividend for the year andéd 31 December 2019 2018: £nd).

28 Share-based payment plans
The share-based payment charge comprises:

(Heversal ofy/ equity-seltied share-based charges an‘smgiromESSlCSOPopmns
‘(mwmmummmmmmm
Equity-settied shate-based charges arising from warrants

Total chargelicredit)

2019

'|= 2., 8

2018
£000

(193)
{13)
‘

(202
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28 - Share-based payment plans (confihued)

in 2016, the Group inkroduced an Employee Share Scheme ("ESS”) to the Exeoutive Direciors gnd various: senior managers,
granted Hurdle $hares o the Chainman and grafiied evergieen warrahts to MXC Capital Limted ("MXT*).

In 2017, the-Group infroduced & Compariy Share Option Planh ("C80P”) for various senior managers snd issued warrants lo MXC
ﬂowhg the acquisiion of 365 TTME. o aptions were.issued to any of the Directors during 2017 or 2018.

On 1 August 2018, MXC wsawamd wiirTants over 1,000,000 ordinary shares, regresanting 5% of the share capilal issited in
connectian With the first tranche of the fundrarsing. On 21 August 2018 MXC was warrahls over 9,003,645 ordinary
3hares, represenﬁng,s% of the share capital issued i conhection with the second tranche of the fundralsing aﬁd'the comitsion
of certain of the loan noles isued earlier in the year. All the Warranls issued to MXC in 2018 haVE an exercise price of 2.5 pence.

MXC warranty CSOPﬁés Total
number of number of
options warrantsioptions

" Optionsiwarrants granted at 1 January 2019 ' 20,040,101 0N 20,128,989

Options lapsed in year ‘ - {60,888) {68,088)
Totat aptions/warrants granted at 31 December 2019 20,040,101 - 20,040,101

Oplions awarded under the ESS/ CSOP scheme lapse if the recipient resigns and in the case of redundancy, the options are either
returnad at no cost or purchased by the Company. There was only one employee remaining at 31 December 2018 who held
options under the ESS/ CSOF scheme which lapsed when he left the Company on 31 January 2019.

The following table ilustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements, in share options and

warrants during the year: _
‘ 2019 2019 2018 2018
Humber WAEP Numbar WAEP
Opening balance ' 20,426,989 g7 13,720,205 £0.30
Granted duting the year . - 10,003,645 £0.03
Lapsed dwring the year (ss888) £0.30 (3,594,851) £0.30
Clesing balance 20,040,101 £0.17 20,128,989 E0.17
lnilnminseem"

There were no options or warrants exercisable at 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

The exercise prices for warranls outstanding at the end of the year ranges from £0.025 - £0.30 (2018: ranged from £6.025 - £0.30).
There are 10,036,456 warants with an exercise price of £0.30 fo £0.325 which had a vesting dats of 31 December 2018 and expiry
date of 31 December 2022; these are considered to be so far out of the money and well below the share price condilions that they
will not be exercised; a further 10,003,545 warrants have an exercise price of £0.025, 2 vesting date of 1 August 2021 and an
expiry date of 31 December 2022,

‘The fair value of the equily-settied share oplions granted is estimated al the date of granl using an average of Black Scholes and

an empirical model o lake info account market conditions attaching to the options granted thraughout ife year. Volatiity was
calculated based upon the chgnge in the-daily share prioe of the company over the fast 24 months.
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Notés to the Consolidated Financial Statéments (continved)
29 Pensions

The Group aperales a definad contribution pension schemes for eligiole employees. The cliadge for the yisar ended 31 December
2019 felating 1 conlinuing operations i £0.6 miflion (eontinuing opeérations 2018 £0.6.milllon). Ah amaimt of £53k s included. in
creditons béing outstanding centribuidng at 31 December 2019 (2018: £53k).

30 Related parties

Key management Is considered to compise only the Directors. Direclors’ emoluments are- disclosed!in ridfe 10. Sotial seourfty
costs inr respect of Direclors' amoluments were £19.5k (2018; £44Kk),

lan Smith, Execulive. Director at 31 December 2019, is-Chief Exacutive Officer and a substantial sharehoider of MXC.:MXC owhed
43.1% of ihe issued share capiiat of the Company at 31 December 2019.

Ouring the year, the Group and Company paid MXC Capital Markels LLP, a subsidiary of MXC, corporalé findnce advice and other
services amounting o £47,000 (2018: £nil). The balance owed to MXC Capital Markels LLP as-at 31 Decembér 2019 was £57,000
(2018: Enil). , : '

In adifion, the Group paid MXG Advisory Limited, a subsidiary of MXC, fees of £229,250 (2018: £28,713) In respect of the-setvices
of lan Smith a3 Execulive Directir and the services of an iterim Chief Financial Officer for the year ended 31 Dacember 2019.
The balance owed to MXC Advisory Limited"as at 31 December 2019 was £345,854 (2018: £101,031)

The Group also paid MXC Guemsey Limited, a subsidiary of MXC Capital Liirited, fees of £239,799 (2018: Enil) in respect of
underwriting of loan notes and guaraniee fee of the finance leases with Lombard. The balance owed to MXC Guemsey as at 31
December 2019 was £239,799 {2018; £nll).

Al 31 December 2019, in addition to owning shares in the Company, MXC Capital Limited hekl warranis over 20,040,101 Shares

. in the Company (2018: 20,040,101 shares).

During the year, Kesirel Pariners LLP invoiced the Company £30,082 (2018: £7,177) in respect of the services of Max Royde and
Sebastian White as Non-Executive Oweclors. The balance owed to Kestrel Paitners LLP as at 31 December 2019 was £6,030
{2018; £5,613)

The Company had the fallowing balances with its subsidiary companies; :
: 2019 2018

Receivables £000 £000
1DE Group Limited 83,047 53,612
IDE Group Manage Limiled 11,880 3
IDE Group Connect Limited : 2,366 2,506
Assistanca Genle Ligiciel 154 181
1DE Group Voice Limited ’ 1 3
IDE Group Protect Limited 9 9
IDE Group Financing Limited Y ]
IDE Group Subholdings Limited 1 -
' R —_— —
Yotal ‘ ’ 67,904 56,338

A provision of £1m was made in respecl of the IDE Group Manage receivable, a provision of £0.2m was made in respect of [DE Group Connect
and & provision of £47.5m was made in respect of IDE Group Lintiksd receivable. AR olhér recsivables ware-provicixd for tn R,

o . 2ne

Payabias £000 £000
IDE Group Connect ) - -
Cupid.com inc ) . 1013 1033
Castle Digital services inc N i1 81
Seiaction Services Limited 8 81
Hooya Digital Limited ‘ 42 42
Connexions4Landon Limited ] 6
Aggregated Telecom Limied 1 1
Tolal ' 1,204 . 1,204
—— —
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‘3 Postbalance shest events
Cotid-19

The snprecadented and confinually changing circumstances surrdufiding the COVID-19 outbreak provide an uncertain edonbmic
landscape. )

Whilst T Is dificult to pradiot adcutately the polential long-term Comsequenced, we famain vigltant and, in common vih al
businesses, aré closely monioring the silualion and to dale there has beéen Ho materidl adverse éfiecl on the businéss 3s 1T
madaded $ervicas tiave femained buoydnt during the UK-widé lock dowfi; with increased relianca on mobile working and thé need
to facilitate- customers' staff working fémotely, in addilion therd .has been increased demand for Iifst;yde services which
hecessitatett an increase in shifts and produttion, and this has offset modest reduction’s in user stipport desk activities.

“The Direclors havé tdken advaniage of thé Government's Jab Retention Sehéiné lo furlough somé staff members.during Mé'lock
down pexiod, as well 3s senior staff taking a short-ferm 20% satary reduction, and also deferment of PAYE and VAT cash payments
to maXimise cash flows.

We have continued io se€ new apportunilies during lock<down, afid believe that the demand for centralised managed services;
cloud, liset suppori desk, Mmobile working & collaboration, and over-arching business continuity solufions will provide good
opporunities during the remainder of 2020.

We therefore do not expect an adverse effect on asset values, with the éxceplion of somé receivable balances, which we o not
foresee being matérial due to the seclofs in which our largest clients operate and the crilical nature of the services we povide.

Nimoveli Acquisition

"On 1 Juhe 2020, the Group coipleted the acquisition of Nimoveri Holdings Limited,  small cioud and IT senides.business, fot a

total considetation of £200,000; £100,000 paid in cash on completion, and £100,000 6f secured 0% loah notes redeemable 31
December 2021: The initial accounting for this is still incomplete.

77



